## **Master thesis**

**Public Health Nutrition** 

May 2016

# Plasma Fatty Acids and Expression of Genes Related to Lipid Metabolism



OSLO AND AKERSHUS UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF APPLIED SCIENCES

**Kine Næss Dagsland** 

The Faculty of Health Sciences

**Department of Nursing and Health Promotion** 

**Oslo and Akershus University College of Applied Sciences** 

## Acknowledgements

This thesis is a continuation of a randomized controlled intervention trial conducted at Oslo and Akershus University College in 2009. To get practical experience from a research study, I assisted in the Fish and Krill oil project at the Oslo and Akershus University College from August till December 2015. Writing this assignment has been challenging at times, but very informative.

I would first like to express my gratitude to my supervisors, Mari Myhrstad, Stine Ulven and Kirsten Holven for the guidance throughout the process.

I would also like to thank my co-student and friend Sunniva, for always being a great company and sparring partner. Finally, I want to thank my boyfriend, family and friends for being so helpful and understanding, even in stressful times.

Oslo, May 2016

Kine Næss Dagsland

## Abstract

**Background:** The amount and type of fatty acids in the diet may influence the pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease. Fatty acids is known to modulate the expression of genes, which could have an impact on cardiovascular disease risk. However, the underlying mechanisms are not fully established.

**Aim:** The main aim of this study was to examine the impact of plasma fatty acids on expression of genes related to lipid metabolism in peripheral blood mononuclear cells in healthy subjects.

**Method:** Blood samples and expression level of 43 genes from 54 healthy subjects from a previous randomized controlled intervention trial were used. Subjects were divided into high and low groups based on the 70<sup>th-</sup> and 30<sup>th</sup> percentiles of total plasma omega-3 level, omega-6/omega-3 ratio and ratio of saturated fatty acid to polyunsaturated fatty acid.

**Results:** The results showed that nine of the 43 included genes were significantly different regulated when comparing subjects with high and low plasma omega-3 level and fatty acid ratios. The ratio of saturated fatty acid to polyunsaturated fatty acid was associated with the highest number of differently expressed genes (FABP5, CPT1A, INSIG2, SOAT1, CRAT, ACOT1 and PLIN5), followed by the plasma omega-6/omega-3 ratio (CETP and PPARG) and total plasma omega-3 level (CETP).

**Conclusion:** A high ratio of saturated fatty acid to polyunsaturated fatty acid modulated the expression of several genes associated with increased cardiovascular disease risk. A high level of plasma omega-3 and low plasma omega-6/omega-3 ratio modulated one gene associated with reduced cardiovascular disease risk, whereas a high omega-6/omega-3 ratio increased the expression of one gene associated with reduced cardiovascular disease risk. These results suggest that the level of plasma FAs may modulate and expression of genes related to lipid metabolism and thereby influence the CVD risk.

## **Table of contents**

1 Introdu	ıction	10
1.1	Cardiovascular disease	10
1.2	Fatty acids	10
1.2.	1 Structure of fatty acids	10
1.2.2	2 Synthesis of fatty acids	11
1.2.	3 Fatty acids as components in cell membranes	13
1.2.4	4 Eicosanoid production	13
1.2.:	5 Dietary sources and recommendations	13
1.3	Cardiovascular disease and fatty acids	14
1.3.	1 Fatty acids and biomarkers for cardiovascular disease risk	15
1.4	Lipid metabolism	16
1.5	Regulation of lipid metabolism by fatty acids	18
1.5.	1 Gene expression	18
1.5.2	2 Fatty acids and transcription factors	19
1.5.	3 Peripheral blood mononuclear blood cells as a modelling system for studying gene	
expi	ression	21
2 Aim of	this study	23
3 Subject	s and methods	24
3.1	Subjects, inclusion and exclusion criteria	24
3.2	Data collection in the previous study	24
3.2.	1 Venous blood sampling	24
3.2.2	2 Isolation and preparation of mRNA from peripheral mononuclear blood cells	25
3.3	Grouping of subjects based on plasma fatty acids	25
3.4	Selection of genes related to lipid metabolism	27
3.5	Statistical methods	30
3.5.	1 Variables	30
3.5.2	2 Statistical analysis	30
3.6	Research ethics	31
4 Results		32
4.1	Subject characteristics	32
4.1.	1 Descriptive data	32
4.1.2	2 Fatty acid profiles	32
4.1.	3 Inclusion of subjects with high and low plasma n-3 level and fatty acid ratios	33

4.2	Comparison of characteristics between subjects with low and high plasma n-3 level and	
fatty a	icid ratios	34
4.3	Gene expression analysis	36
4.4	Correlation analysis	42
5 Discus	sion	44
5.1	Impact of fatty acid levels and ratios on expression of gene transcripts	44
5.1	.1 Significantly regulated gene transcripts in subjects with high and low plasma n-3 level	
and	l n-6/n-3 ratio	46
5.1	.2 Significantly regulated gene transcripts in subjects with high and low SFA/PUFA ratio	48
5.1	.3 Differences in plasma FA level and ratio across subjects and reference groups	53
5.2	Discussion of methods	54
5.2	.1 Study design and subjects	54
5.2	.2 Statistical analysis	55
6 Conclu	usion	57
7 Literat	ture	58

## List of figures

Figure 1. Chemical structure of stearic acid, alpha-linolenic acid and linoleic acid11
Figure 2. Metabolism of polyunsaturated fatty acids
Figure 3. Cellular lipid metabolism17
Figure 4. Cholesterol and lipoprotein metabolism18
Figure 5. Fatty acids effects on regulation of gene expression
Figure 6. Flowchart showing subjects completing the original study and excluded and
included subjects in the statistical analysis in the present study
Figure 7. Boxplot of the cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) in the total plasma n-3
groups
Figure 8A and 8B. Boxplot of the significantly different expressed genes in the plasma n-6/n-
3 ratio groups
Figure 9A-H. Boxplot of significantly different expressed genes in the plasma SFA/PUFA
ratio groups
Figure 10. Overview of significantly regulated genes in various aspects of lipid metabolism45
Figure 11. Possible relations between significantly regulated genes and cardiovascular
disease

## List of tables

<b>Table 1</b> . Included plasma FAs in the groups 26
Table 2. Overview of included genes (n=43) 28
<b>Table 3.</b> Descriptive characteristics of the 54 participants 32
<b>Table 4.</b> Plasma fatty acid profile of the subjects (n=54)
Table 5. Mean, minmax and cut-off values in subjects with low and high plasma n-3 level
and fatty acid ratios
<b>Table 6.</b> Differences in characteristics and serum lipids between subjects with low and high
plasma n-3 level and fatty acid ratios
<b>Table 7.</b> Number of differentially expressed genes
<b>Table 8.</b> Differentially expressed genes between subjects with high and low plasma n-3 level,
n-6/n-3- or SFA/PUFA ratio
<b>Table 9.</b> Correlations between significantly regulated gene transcripts and plasma n-3 level,
n-6/n-3- or SFA/PUFA ratio
Table 10. Correlations between significantly regulated gene transcripts and BMI or serum
lipids

## Abbreviations

AA: arachidonic acid Acetyl coenzyme A: acetyl-CoA ALA: alpha-linolenic acid BMI: body mass index CD36: CD36 molecule CE: cholesteryl ester CETP: cholesteryl ester transfer protein CHD: coronary heart disease CRP: C-reactive protein CVD: cardiovascular disease DHA: docosahexaenoic acid DNA: deoxyribonucleic acid DPA: docosapentaenoic acid EPA: eicosapentaenoic acid ER: endoplasmic reticulum FA: fatty acid FA CoA: fatty acyl CoA FAS: fatty acid synthase FATP: fatty acid transport protein HDL: high-density lipoprotein HMG-CoA: hycroxymethylglutaryl CoA reductase HSL: hormone sensitive lipase LA: linoleic acid LDL: low-density lipoprotein LDLR: low-density lipoprotein receptor LPL: lipoprotein lipase

LXR: liver X receptor mRNA: messenger ribonucleic acid MUFA: monounsaturated fatty acid NEFA: non-esterified fatty acid NNR: Nordic Nutrition Recommendations Omega-3: n-3 Omega-6: n-6 PBMC: peripheral mononuclear blood cell PL: phospholipids PPAR: peroxisome-proliferator activated receptor PPARA: peroxisome proliferator activated receptor alpha PPARB: peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor beta PPARG: peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma PPRE: PPAR response element PUFA: polyunsaturated fatty acid RCT: randomized controlled trial RNA: ribonucleic acid RXR: retinoid X receptor SD: standard deviation SFA: Saturated fatty acid SREBP: sterol regulatory element-binding protein TAG: triacylglycerol TC: total cholesterol TF: transcription factors VLDL: very low-density lipoprotein WHO: World health organization

## **1** Introduction

## 1.1 Cardiovascular disease

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is a group of disorders of the heart and blood vessels, and is the number one cause of death among humans, representing 31% of all deaths worldwide (World Health Organization [WHO], 2015a). CVD include stroke, coronary heart disease (CHD) and disease of other arteries (Stanner, 2008). The most important risk factors of stroke and heart disease are physical inactivity, an unhealthy diet, use of tobacco and harmful use of alcohol. These risk factors may lead to elevated blood lipids, raised blood pressure and raised blood glucose, eventually increasing the risk of CVD (WHO, 2015a).

Prevention of CVD is a major focus in nutrition research, and research has shown that development of CVD can be prevented by changes towards a healthier diet. Nutritional habits, especially regarding dietary fat are involved in the progress of CVD (Michas, Micha, & Zampelas, 2014; Perk et al., 2012). The amount and type of fatty acids (FAs) in the diet determines the relative amount of FA in the tissue of the body, and may influence the pathogenesis of CVD (Jakobsen et al., 2009; A. Simopoulos, 2006; Wall, Ross, Fitzgerald, & Stanton, 2010). A high intake of saturated fatty acids (SFA) has been shown to increase the CVD risk, whereas a high intake of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) has been shown to decrease the CVD risk (Deckelbaum, 2010; Michas et al., 2014).

## 1.2 Fatty acids

#### **1.2.1** Structure of fatty acids

The majority of naturally existing lipids are a combination of different triacylglycerol molecules (TAG) (Nordic Counsil of Ministers [NCM], 2014). TAG consist of three individual FAs, each esterified to a glycerol molecule (Frayn, 2010). TAG is stored in fat cells, and is the major form of stored energy in the body (Schaefer, 2002). A FA consists of a hydrophobic hydrocarbon chain with a terminal carboxyl group. At physiologic pH, the terminal carboxyl group (-COOH) ionizes, becoming  $-COO^{-}$ . This anionic group has an affinity for water, giving the FAs its amphipathic nature (Champe, Harvey, & Ferrier, 2008).

The metabolic effects of FAs depend on the length of the carbon chain, the number and location of double bonds and the degree of saturation (Champe et al., 2008; NCM, 2014). The

most important FAs in metabolism are mainly unbranched, long-chain (12 carbons or more) with an even number of carbon atoms (Frayn, 2010). The double bonds are counted either from the carboxyl (delta) or the methyl (omega) end (NCM, 2014).



*Figure 1.* Chemical structure of stearic acid, alpha-linolenic acid and linoleic acid. Adapted from Valenzuela & Valenzuela (2013).

SFA, saturated fatty acid; n-3 PUFA, omega 3 polyunsaturated fatty acid; n-6 PUFA, omega 6 polyunsaturated fatty acid.

FAs containing no double bonds are referred to as SFAs, FAs containing one double bond are referred to as monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA), whereas FAs containing several double bonds are referred to as polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) (Frayn, 2010; Jump, 2002b). The PUFAs are divided into the omega-6 (n-6) and omega-3 (n-3) classes based on the positioning of the first double bond. n-6 have their first double bond beginning at the sixth bond position from the methyl end, whereas long chain n-3 have the first double bond beginning at the third position from the methyl end (Figure 1) (Champe et al., 2008; Frayn, 2010).

#### 1.2.2 Synthesis of fatty acids

The n-6 and n-3 precursors, linoleic acid (C18:2 n-6; LA) and alpha-linolenic acid (C18:3 n-3; ALA) are essential FAs because humans lack the enzymes to introduce double bonds at the n-6 and n-3 positions (Seo, Blaner, & Deckelbaum, 2005). An adequate intake of the essential PUFAs is necessary for normal growth in humans, and needs to be included in the diet (Calder et al., 2010). The essential LA and ALA can be elongated and desaturated to other members of the same family, but cannot be converted from n-6 to n-3. LA is mainly metabolised to the

n-3 FAs eicosapentaenoic acid (C20:5 n-3, EPA), docosapentaenoic acid (22:5 n-3, DPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (C22:6 n-3, DHA) (Figure 2) (Frayn, 2010; NCM, 2014; Seo et al., 2005). The n-6 and n-3 FAs compete for the same enzymes for further metabolism in the body, with n-3 having a higher affinity than n-6 (NCM, 2014; A. Simopoulos, 2006).

The major types of SFA in the diet and bloodstream are palmitic acid (C16:0), stearic acid (C18:0) and myristic acid (C14:0) (Schaefer, 2002). In addition to being supplied from the diet, SFAs can be synthesized within the human body. FA synthase (FAS) produces mainly palmitic acid from acetyl coenzyme A (acetyl-CoA) molecules. Several pathways can produce a range of SFAs and MUFAs, but not the essential n-6 and n-3 PUFAs (Dongol, Shah, Kim, Gonzalez, & Hunt, 2007; Frayn, 2010; NCM, 2014).



Figure 2. Metabolism of polyunsaturated fatty acids. Adapted from Arteburn, Hall & Oken (2006).

n-6, omega 6; n-3, omega 3; LA, linoleic acid; AA, arachidonic acid; DPA, docosapentaenoic acid; ALA, alphalinolenic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; DHA, docosahexaenoic acid.

#### 1.2.3 Fatty acids as components in cell membranes

FAs are an important part of the cell membrane, both as structural components in membrane lipids, such as glycolipids and phospholipids (PL), and as integrated lipids in the cell membrane. FAs in the cell membrane are involved in several processes, such as changing the membrane fluidity, substrate availability for lipid synthesis and cell signalling to gene expression (Calder, 2002; Frayn, 2010; Jump, 2002a).

SFAs and PUFAs have opposing effects on membrane fluidity, membrane cholesterol content, and lipid raft organization (Soni et al., 2008; Wassall & Stillwell, 2009). SFA intake decreases the fluidity in cell membranes, resulting in less low-density lipoprotein receptor (LDLR) activity and increased levels of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) in the blood stream (Ooi et al., 2012). Cell membranes with a high content of PUFAs are more fluid than those with high amount of SFAs. This may make them better able to regulate metabolic processes (Frayn, 2010).

#### 1.2.4 Eicosanoid production

n-6 and n-3 FAs are precursors for eicosanoids, which are important immune modulators (Calder, 2002; NCM, 2014). Prostaglandins, and the related compounds thromboxanes and leukotrienes, are eicosanoids (Champe et al., 2008; A. P. Simopoulos, 2001). AA and EPA are incorporated in the cell membrane, where they compete for the same (phospholipase) enzymes, which are able to release them for conversion to different forms of eicosanoids. EPA has a higher affinity for the enzymes (Calder, 2002; NCM, 2014; A. Simopoulos, 2006; A. P. Simopoulos, 1991). The eicosanoids produced from AA are considered pro-inflammatory, whereas the eicosanoids from EPA are considered less pro-inflammatory compared to eicosanoids from AA. Since EPA have higher affinity for the enzymes, they are believed to antagonize the pro-inflammatory effects of n-6, and it has been hypothesized that the n-6/n-3 ratio in the diet is important to prevent inflammation and CVD (Calder, 2012; Harris, 2006; Ristić & Ristić, 2002; Schmitz & Ecker, 2008).

#### 1.2.5 Dietary sources and recommendations

There are more sources of n-6 than n-3 in the western diet. n-6 consumption is mainly from LA, obtained from vegetable oils, whereas n-3 is found in plants sources (flaxseed oils and canola oils), or by direct intake of EPA and DHA, primarily from marine sources (Champe et

al., 2008; Russo, 2009; Seo et al., 2005). The dietary SFAs is found mainly in animal fat (meat and dairy products) and some plant oils (palm oils and coconut oils) (Champe et al., 2008; Michas et al., 2014).

As part of a healthy diet, WHO recommends to restrict the total fat intake to under 30 % of the daily energy intake, and SFA intake to under 10 % (WHO, 2015b; WHO/FAO expert consultation, 2003). Nordic Nutrition Recommendations (NNR) recommend a total fat intake between 25-40 % of the daily energy intake, and to restrict the SFA intake to under 10 % of the daily energy intake. PUFAs should contribute 5-10 % of the daily energy intake, with at least 1% from n-3. However, recommendations regarding the intake of the marine n-3, EPA and DHA, or the n-6/n-3 ratio are not quantified (NCM, 2014). The Norwegian Directorate of Health's nutrition recommendations are based on the NNR, and the same total daily intake of total fat, SFA and PUFAs are recommended. In Norway, the average PUFA intake meets the recommendations, but the average consumption of SFA is approximately 15% of the daily intake, and exceeds the recommended intake (The Norwegian Directorate of Health, 2015b).

## **1.3 Cardiovascular disease and fatty acids**

Early clinical trials, including the Oslo Diet-Heart Study and the Finnish Mental Hospital Study showed reduced CVD related events when replacing SFA with PUFAs in the diet (Siri-Tarino, Sun, Hu, & Krauss, 2010). A summary of evidence from 15 randomized controlled trials (RCT) showed reduced CVD risk by 17% after reducing SFA intake (Hooper et al., 2015). A meta-analysis by Mozaffarian et al. estimated a 10% reduction in CVD risk for every 5% of SFAs replaced with PUFAs (Mozaffarian, Micha, & Wallace, 2010). Furthermore, a cohort study published in 2015 showed that replacing SFA with PUFAs lowered CHD risk, suggesting that recommendations should include replacing SFA with unsaturated fat to reduce the risk of CHD (de Souza et al., 2015). However, a summary of evidence from 28 cohorts and 19 RCTs showed no associations between SFA intake and CHD (Skeaff & Miller, 2009). Another study showed that greater SFA intake was associated with less progression of coronary disease in postmenopausal women (Mozaffarian, Rimm, & Herrington, 2004). A systematic review and meta-analysis concluded that current evidence does not clearly support cardiovascular guidelines encouraging high PUFA intake and low SFA intake (Chowdhury et al., 2014).

#### 1.3.1 Fatty acids and biomarkers for cardiovascular disease risk

Elevated levels of LDL-C and TAG are biomarkers associated with increased risk of atherosclerosis, which is the underlying cause of CVD in most cases, whereas increased levels of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) are associated with decreased risk of atherosclerosis and CVD (Epstein & Ross, 1999; Frayn, 2010; Nabel & Braunwald, 2012). High levels of LDL-C is a strong, but treatable, risk factor for CVD (Go et al., 2014). On the contrary, epidemiological studies have demonstrated a strong inverse relationship between high levels of HDL-C and CVD risk, which is independent of LDL-C (P. Barter et al., 2007; Castelli, 1988; Kosmas, Christodoulidis, Cheng, Lerakis, & Vittorio, 2014).

As early as in 1953, Ancel Keys launched an epidemiological longitudinal study called the seven countries study. He investigated the relationship between diet and CHD in middle-aged men from seven different countries. This study was the first to find that serum cholesterol increases in proportion to intake of total fat, and more interestingly intake of SFA. In addition, the fatal coronary heart events increased in proportion to serum cholesterol (Keys, 1980). Plasma FAs affect levels biomarkers for CVD risk, and PUFAs have been shown to lower plasma TAG levels, whereas SFA have been shown to increase the plasma TAG levels (Frayn, 2010; Lottenberg, da Silva Afonso, Lavrador, Machado, & Nakandakare, 2012). Furthermore, SFA intake is associated with increased plasma cholesterol and LDL-C, resulting in increased CVD risk. n-6 intake is associated with decreased plasma cholesterol and LDL-C when substituted for SFA. However, the plasma HDL-C is also lowered. n-3 reduces serum TAG, which reduces CVD risk, but is shown to have little effect on LDL-C and HDL-C (Champe et al., 2008).

Furthermore, SFA can suppress the activity of LDL receptors causing reduced LDL clearance, and also increased LDL production rate (Berneis & Krauss, 2002; Dreon et al., 1998). On the contrary, n-6 FAs may increase the activity of the LDL receptor, reducing LDL production rate (Cortese et al., 1983; Shepherd et al., 1980; Turner, Le, & Brown, 1981). Replacement of SFA with n-6 FAs is shown to decrease total LDL-C and HDL-C, as well as decrease the total cholesterol (TC)/HDL ratio (Mensink & Katan, 1992; Mensink, Zock, Kester, & Katan, 2003).

## 1.4 Lipid metabolism

Abnormalities or deficiencies in the lipid metabolism can lead to atherosclerosis and CVD (Chang, Li, Chang, & Urano, 2009; Millen, Wolongevicz, de Jesus, Nonas, & Lichtenstein, 2014; Nguyen et al., 2008; Parekh & Anania, 2007).

The digestion of dietary lipids (TAG, PL and cholesteryl ester (CE)) starts in the stomach and continues in the small intestine, where they are degraded by enzymes before being absorbed and re-esterified in the cells in the intestinal wall. Then the lipids are assembled into chylomicrons and carried to the circulation (Champe et al., 2008; Frayn, 2010). The lipids are delivered to cells as very low density lipoproteins (VLDL) or chylomicrons. Lipoprotein lipase (LPL) hydrolyses TAG, and the non-esterified FAs (NEFAs) are released and taken up by metabolic tissues. The NEFAs enter the cells via diffusion and transporters of FA (fatty acid transfer protein (FATP) and CD36 molecule (CD36) (Jump, 2002b; Stahl, Gimeno, Tartaglia, & Lodish, 2001).

After entering the cell, NEFAs are immediately converted to fatty acyl CoA thioesters (FA CoAs), which are necessary in nearly all metabolic processes. Intracellular FAs are bound by a fatty acid binding protein (FABP) which transports the FA through the cytosol (Figure 3) (Frayn, 2010). FAs are synthesized in the cytosol of the liver. Citrate is the activator, whereas long chain FA CoA is the inhibitor. The rest of the FA synthesis is regulated by FAS. FAs can be elongated and desaturated in endoplasmic reticulum (ER), incorporated into the PL of cell membranes, converted to eicosanoids or degraded by  $\beta$ -oxidation. The carnitine shuttle, a translocase and carnitine-palmitoyltransferase 1 and 2 (CPT1 and CPT2) is essential for transporting long chain FAs from cytosol to the mitochondrial matrix, where  $\beta$ -oxidation occurs (Champe et al., 2008; Frayn, 2010). When FAs are required for energy, hormone-sensitive lipase (HSL) are activated by glucagon which starts lipolysis, which is the breakdown of TAG. NEFA is released to the circulation and transported to the needed tissue bound to albumin (Figure 3) (Champe et al., 2008).



Figure 3. Cellular lipid metabolism. Adapted from Jump (2004).

NEFA, non-esterified fatty acid; TAG, triacylglycerol; LPL, lipoprotein lipase; FATP, fatty acid transport protein; FABP, fatty acid binding protein; FA-CoA, fatty acid coenzyme A; PL, phospholipids; HSL, hormone sensitive lipase; LDL, very-low density lipoprotein.

Cholesterol is formed in several types of cells in the human body, and is used for the production of steroid hormones, bile salts and structures for cell membranes (NCM, 2014). Cholesterol is a hydrophobic compound, consisting of a single hydroxyl group located at carbon number 3. A FA may attach to the carbon, producing CE, which is even more hydrophobic. Cholesterol can be synthesized in more or less all human tissue, and the synthesis takes place in the cytoplasm (Champe et al., 2008). Elimination of cholesterol from the body can occur by conversion to bile salts or secretion intro bile salts (Champe et al., 2008).

After VLDL have delivered lipids to tissues, they can either be endocytosed in the liver by the LDLR or they can become LDL particles (Frayn, 2010). The main function of LDL is to deliver cholesterol to peripheral tissue, and LDL leave the circulation by being endocytosed by the LDLR in various tissues (Champe et al., 2008; Frayn, 2010). By contrast, HDL removes cholesterol by delivering excess cholesterol from peripheral tissue to the liver, which is the only organ that can eliminate it. This process is known as reversed cholesterol transport,

and happens with help of cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) (Figure 4) (Champe et al., 2008; Frayn, 2010).



Figure 4. Cholesterol and lipoprotein metabolism.

LPL, lipoprotein lipase; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; LDLR, low-density lipoprotein receptor; HDL, highdensity lipoprotein; CETP, cholesteryl ester transfer protein; HDLR, high-density lipoprotein receptor.

## 1.5 Regulation of Lipid Metabolism by Fatty Acids

Whereas the metabolic flux in lipid metabolism can be adjusted by enzymes and proteins over a short period of time, e.g. after a meal when nutrients enter the bloodstream, long-term changes in metabolic flux may need to be regulated over longer periods, allowing the body to adapt to changes in dietary patterns (Frayn, 2010). This involves changes in the amount of protein, mainly by changes in the rate of transcription of genes into messenger RNA (mRNA). The overall process leading from a gene to its product is called gene expression (Frayn, 2010).

#### **1.5.1** Gene expression

Gene expression is the production of a functional gene product, either ribonucleic acid (RNA) or protein, processed by the steps of replication, transcription and translation. The genetic information is copied and transferred to daughter cells via DNA replication. The process where a DNA strand serves as a pattern for the synthesis of ribonucleic acid (RNA), is the transcription (Champe et al., 2008). The transcription is the first stage in the expression of genetic information. Further, the code contained in the nucleotide sequence of mRNA is translated to a protein, completing the gene expression. Regulation of gene expressions

happens primarily at the level of transcription, and is mediated by the binding of proteins to regulatory elements on the DNA (Champe et al., 2008).

Transcription involves polymerases in addition to a great amount of proteins called transcription factors (TFs). The TFs are necessary both for the assembly of a transcription complex at the promoter as well as for determination of which genes are to be transcribed (Champe et al., 2008). The enzyme RNA polymerase II synthesizes the nuclear precursors of mRNA that are later translated to protein production. General TFs are the minimal requirements for a promoter to be recognized, and require RNA polymerase II and initiation of transcription (Champe et al., 2008). Specific TFs, also called transcriptional activators, are needed to modulate the frequency of initiation, to mediate the response to signals, and regulate which genes are expressed. Specific TFs also bind to other proteins, referred to as coactivators, recruiting them to the transcription complex (Champe et al., 2008).

## 1.5.2 Fatty acids and transcription factors

FAs may regulate gene transcription through several mechanisms. Some involve direct binding of FAs to nuclear receptors, whereas other act indirect and rely on changes in activity or nuclear abundance of the TFs (Figure 5) (Jump, 2004, 2008).

One of the most important groups of nutrient sensors is the nuclear receptor superfamily of TFs, comprising of 48 different members in humans (Zhang & Mangelsdorf, 2002). The nuclear receptors are ligand-inducible TFs that regulate target genes related to development, metabolism and reproduction (Hermanson, Glass, & Rosenfeld, 2002). Several nuclear receptors have been identified as targets for FA binding, including peroxisome proliferator activated receptors (PPARs), liver X receptor (LXR) and retinoid X receptor (RXR) (Jump, 2004).

PPARs are a group of nuclear receptors consisting of the peroxisome proliferator activated receptor alpha (PPARA), Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor beta (PPARB) and PPAR gamma (PPARG). The PPARs form heterodimers with RXR and bind to PPAR response elements (PPRE) in the promotor region of target genes. The PPARs act as sensors for FAs and modulate expression of genes related to lipid metabolism (Mandard, Müller, & Kersten, 2004; Rakhshandehroo, Knoch, Müller, & Kersten, 2010; Yuriko & Kelley, 2010). FAs are regulators of PPARs, and activation leads to introduction of genes involved in FA synthesis and oxidation (Desvergne, Michalik, & Wahli, 2006).

LXRs are closely related to PPARs and are shown to bind to, and have their activity affected by, FAs (Mak et al., 2002; Ou et al., 2001; Pawar, Xu, Jerks, Mangelsdorf, & Jump, 2002; Yoshikawa et al., 2002). LXRs are important regulators of cholesterol homeostasis and play an important role in the interface between inflammation and metabolism. They also regulate the expression of genes involved in reverse cholesterol transport (Im & Osborne, 2011; Mak et al., 2002; Joyce J Repa et al., 2002; Tangirala et al., 2002). Ligands regulating LXR activity therefore have the potential to regulate blood lipid levels and development of atherosclerosis (Joseph, Castrillo, Laffitte, Mangelsdorf, & Tontonoz, 2003; Joseph et al., 2002; J. J. Repa et al., 2000).



*Figure 5. Fatty acids effects on regulation of gene expression. Adapted from Jump (2004). mRNA, messenger ribonucleic acid; DNA: deoxyribonucleic acid.* 

FAs of varying compositions affect the abundance of many transcription factors in the nucleus. These effects are not due to direct binding of the FA to the transcription factor, as described above. Instead, they involve mechanisms that affect the nuclear content of the transcription factor (Figure 5) (Jump, 2004).

SREBPs are TFs involved in the synthesis of FAs, complex lipids and cholesterol (Brown & Goldstein, 1997; Horton et al., 2002). Two genes encodes SREBPs. SREBP-1 has appeared as a regulator of TAG and FA synthesis, whereas SREBP-2 regulates cholesterol synthesis. PUFAs are believed to suppress the nuclear abundance of SREBP-1, as opposed to SFAs. PUFAs suppress its target genes involved in lipogenesis and FA desaturation and elongation, whereas cholesterol prevents SREBP-2 from inducing genes involved in cholesterol synthesis and transport, e.g. LDLR (Horton et al., 2002; Jump, Tripathy, & Depner, 2013; Xu et al., 1999).

FA regulation of PPARs of nuclear receptors is so far the best-characterized model of nuclear receptor regulation, whereas mechanisms for FA control of other molecular targets, such as SREBPs, remain poorly understood at the molecular level (Jump et al., 2013).

# **1.5.3** Peripheral blood mononuclear blood cells as a modelling system for studying gene expression

To understand the underlying molecular mechanisms of FAs, peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) may provide a model system for studying expression of genes involved in lipid metabolism. PBMCs consist of monocytes and lymphocytes which is important cells in the inflammatory process, and are directly related to atherosclerosis (Pasterkamp & Daemen, 2008; Visvikis-Siest et al., 2007).

Several studies have shown that FAs regulate genes in PBMCs. A RCT study showed that supplementation of fish oil may modulate expression of genes involved in normal cellular function in PBMCs in healthy subjects (Myhrstad et al., 2014). A RCT study examined the postprandial effects of intake of PUFA and SFA on expression of gene profiles in PBMCs. PUFAs were found to decrease expression of genes related to LXR, whereas SFAs increased the expression of these genes, suggesting that differences in FAs regulate gene expression differently in PBMCs (Bouwens, Bromhaar, Jansen, Müller, & Afman, 2010). A RCT study on gene expression in PBMCs showed that a high EPA and DHA intake changed the expression of 1040 genes, whereas expression of genes involved in atherogenic and inflammatory pathways was found to be lower expressed (Bouwens et al., 2009). Furthermore, a follow-up study showed that plasma FA ratios consisting of different n-6 and n-3 FAs had differential impact on expression of genes related to inflammation and lipid metabolism in PBMCs (Olsen et al., 2013).

Collectively, it is well known that dietary FAs have an impact on lipid metabolism and CVD development. However, the exact underlying mechanisms on how different plasma FAs regulate expression of genes related to lipid metabolism in healthy subjects are not fully established.

## 2 Aim of this study

The present study is a continuation of a previous double-blinded, randomized, controlled parallel-group study on the health effect of fish oil intake. Fish oil was given to the subjects as a dietary supplement for seven weeks (Ottestad et al., 2012). A microarray analysis of expression of genes in PBMCs was later conducted with the same subjects (Myhrstad et al., 2014).

The main aim of the present study is to examine the impact of plasma fatty acids on expression of genes related to lipid metabolism in PBMCs in healthy subjects using the gene expression data from the previous microarray analysis.

## The objectives can be described as follows:

- i. To investigate the expression of genes related to lipid metabolism in PBMC in subjects with high plasma n-3 levels compared to subjects with low plasma n-3 levels.
- To investigate the expression of genes related to lipid metabolism in PBMC in subjects with high n-6/n-3 ratio compared to subjects with low plasma n-6/n-3 ratio.
- iii. To investigate the expression of genes related to lipid metabolism in PBMC in subjects with SFA/PUFA ratio compared to subjects with low SFA/PUFA ratio.

## **3** Subjects and methods

This study is a cross-sectional, exploratory study. Data from a previous double-blind, randomized, controlled parallel-group study performed at Akershus University College from September to December 2009 was used. 83 subjects were screened for eligibility, whereof 58 received allocated interventions, and four were excluded at the three-week follow-up. A total of 54 subjects completed the seven-week intervention. The subjects were randomly assigned and stratified by gender into three groups at baseline. One group received 8 g/d fish oil (1.6 g/d EPA/DHA), another received 8 g/d oxidized fish oil (1.6 g/d EPA/DHA) and the last group received 8 g/d of high-oleic sunflower oil. The original study was a collaboration between UiO, HiOA and Matforsk (Ottestad et al., 2012).

## 3.1 Subjects, inclusion and exclusion criteria

Healthy men and women between 18 and 50 years were recruited among students and employees at Akershus University College. Inclusion criteria was non-smoking and stable weight for the last three months (±5%). Exclusion criteria were fasting serum level of TC (<7.5mm), TAG (>4 mm), Glucose (>6.0 mm), C-reactive protein (CRP) (>10 mg/l), body mass index (BMI) (>30kg/m2), hypertension (>106/100 mmHg) lactation, pregnancy and chronic illness. In the four weeks leading up to baseline, subjects were not allowed to consume dietary supplements, fish, marine n-3 enriched food or fish products (Ottestad et al., 2012).

## 3.2 Data collection in the previous study

## 3.2.1 Venous blood sampling

Subjects were told to refrain from alcohol consumption and high intensity physical activity the day before blood sampling. Venous blood samples were collected after a 12 hour long overnight fast. Serum samples were kept in room temperature for 30 minutes before centrifugation. Plasma was obtained from EDTA tubes and kept in room temperature for maximum 48 hours before counting the total number of monocytes and lymphocytes. Fasting serum concentrations of high-sensitivity CRP, TC, HDL-C, LDL-C and TAG were measured by standard methods in a routine laboratory (Fürst Medical Laboratory, Oslo, Norway). The Bligh and Dyer method was used to extract plasma lipids (Bligh & Dyer, 1959).

Concentrations of the individual plasma FA was expressed in percentage (%) of total FA (Ottestad et al., 2012).

## 3.2.2 Isolation and preparation of mRNA from peripheral mononuclear blood cells

In the original study, PBMCs were isolated after blood sampling. BD Vacutainer Cell Preparation tubes were used to isolate total mRNA from all PBMC samples, according to the manufacturer's instructions (Becton, Dickinson and Co., Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA). RNeasy Mini Kit was used to isolate total mRNA from all PBMC samples (qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Experimental procedures are described in detail in another study (Myhrstad et al., 2014).

The RNA were labelled, and extracts were hybridized to an Illumnia HumanHT-12 v4 Expression BeadChip and scanned on an Illumina HiScan microarray scanner. Bead-level data was transformed to probe-level values and statistics using Illumina GenomeStudio, which was transported raw (non-normalized and unfiltered) for analysis. A manual quality control step was performed after hybridization and scanning. All samples displayed good characteristics and were included in further analysis. In the end, from 48 000 probes presented on the Human HT-12 v4 microarray, a total of 21 236 genes expressed in PBMC were filtrated and normalized for further studies (Myhrstad et al., 2014).

## 3.3 Grouping of subjects based on plasma fatty acids

Only subjects that completed the intervention were included in this cross-sectional study (n=54). Data on age, BMI, serum lipids, plasma FAs, and gene expression at the end of intervention were used (Myhrstad et al., 2014; Ottestad et al., 2012).

Subjects were grouped according to plasma levels of FAs. To calculate the total plasma n-3 level, the plasma values of EPA, DPA, DHA and ALA after end of intervention were summed for each subject. The n-6/n-3 ratio was calculated by adding together the plasma values of the n-6 FAs (LA and ALA) and dividing the sum by the total level of plasma n-3 (EPA, DPA, DHA and ALA). The SFA/PUFA ratio was calculated by adding together the plasma values of the SFAs (Myristic acid, palmitic acid and stearic acid) and dividing by the sum of the total level of plasma PUFAs (EPA, DPA, DHA, ALA, LA and AA) (Table 1).

Table 1. Inc	luded plasm	ı fatty acids	in the	groups
--------------	-------------	---------------	--------	--------

Group	Included plasma FAs
Total n-3 level	EPA + DPA + DHA + ALA
n-6/n-3 ratio	[LA + AA] / [EPA + DPA + DHA + ALA]
SFA/PUFA ratio	[Myristic acid + palmitic acid + stearicacid] / [EPA + DPA + DHA + ALA LA + AA]

LA, linoleic acid; ALA, Alpha-linolenic acid; AA, arachidonic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; DPA, docosapentaenoic acid; DHA, docosahexaenoic acid.

The subjects were thereafter divided into high and low groups based on the 70<sup>th-</sup> and 30<sup>th</sup> percentiles of total plasma n-3 level, n-6/n-3 ratio and SFA/PUFA ratio. The groups are hereafter referred to as the "high" and "low" groups, for the total plasma n-3 level, n-6/n-3 ratio and SFA/PUFA ratio. The highest 70<sup>th-</sup> and lowest 30<sup>th</sup> percentile level and ratio groups included 16 subjects in each group, whereas the middle 40<sup>th</sup> percentile consisted of 18 subjects (Figure 6). The ranking by 70<sup>th-</sup> and 30<sup>th</sup> percentiles was conducted in Microsoft Excel (Excel 2011, version 14.4.5. Microsoft Corporation), and data was imported to *statistical package for the social sciences* (SPSS) for mac (SPSS, version 22.0 IBM Corp, Armonk, NY, USA) for statistical analysis.



*Figure 6.* Flowchart showing subjects completing the original study and excluded and included subjects in the statistical analysis in the present study.

\*Excluded from further analyses.

## 3.4 Selection of genes related to lipid metabolism

A total of 21 236 genes were originally defined as expressed in PBMCs (Myhrstad et al., 2014). In accordance with the main objectives of the present study, a total of 43 genes related to various aspects of lipid metabolism were selected, and are shown in Table 2. Official gene symbols were used to denote the genes in the present study. The selected genes cover most of the pathways of lipid metabolism (cholesterol metabolism, FA oxidation, FA uptake, lipolysis, lipogenesis, elongation, desaturation, TAG metabolism, lipoprotein metabolism, glucose metabolism, hydrolysis of FA-CoAs, FA activation, lipid storage droplets, adipocyte differentiation and energy metabolism). In some cases, the same gene was measured with several probes, resulting in multiple measurements of the same gene. The genes measured in several probes were annotated with an ending letter, for example FABP5A, FABP5B and FABP5C.

Official gene symbol Gene name (alias) Function CD36 CD36 molecule Cholesterol metabolism SCARB1 Scavenger receptor class B, member 1 Cholesterol metabolism LDLR LDL receptor Cholesterol metabolism ABCG1 ATP-binding cassette, sub-family G, member 1 Cholesterol efflux SOAT1 Sterol O-acyltransferase 1 Cholesterol metabolism PPARA Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha FA oxidation CPT1A Carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1A FA oxidation CPT1B Carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1B FA oxidation CRAT Carnitine O-acetyltransferase FA oxidation ACOX1 Acyl-CoA oxidase 1, palmitoyl FA oxidation FASN Fatty acid synthase FA synthesis SCD1 Stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1 FA synthesis SREBF1 Sterol regulatory element binding transcription factor 1 Lipogenesis ELOVL5 ELOVL fatty acid elongase 5 VLCPUFA elongation ELOVL6 ELOVL fatty acid elongase 6 LCPUFA elongation FADS1 Fatty acid desaturase 1 LCPUFA desaturation FADS2 Fatty acid desaturase 2 LCPUFA desaturation LIPE Hormone sensitive lipase Lipolysis DGAT1 Diacylglycerol O-acyltransferase 1 TAG metabolism LPL Lipoprotein lipase Lipoprotein metabolism APOBR Apolipoprotein B receptor Lipoprotein metabolism PDK4 Pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase, isozyme 4 Glucose metabolism ACOT1 Acyl-CoA thioesterase 1 Hydrolysis of fatty acyl-CoAs ACSL1 Acyl-CoA synthetase long-chain family member 1 Fatty acyl synthetase/FA activation PLIN4 Perilipin 4 Lipid storage droplets

*Table 2.* Overview of included genes (n=43)

PLIN2	Perilipin 2	Lipid storage droplets
CETP	Cholestserol ester transfer protein	Cholesterol metabolism
PLIN5	Perilipin 5	FA uptake, lipolysis, FA oxidation
PPARG	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma	Adipocyte differenation,
PPARGC1A	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma, coactivator 1 alpha	Energy metabolism
PPARGC1B	peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma, coactivator 1 b	Energy metabolism/fat oxidation
UCP2	Uncopling protein 2	Energy metabolism
NR1H3	Nuclear receptor subfamily 1, group H, member 3 (LXRA)	Lipid metabolism/cholesterol
NR1H2	Nuclear receptor subfamily 1, group H, member 2 (LXRB)	Lipid metabolism/cholesterol
RXRA	Retinoic X receptor alpha	Lipid metabolism
FABP5	Fatty acid binding protein 5	FA uptake
PCSK9	proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9	Cholesterol metabolism
SRGN	Serglycin	Lipid homeostasis
SORT1	Sortilin1	Trafficking of proteins
MYLIP	Myosin regulatory light chain interacting protein	Myosin regulatory light chain
INSIG1	Insulin Induced Gene 1	Regulation of cholesterol biosynthesis
INSIG2	Insulin Induced Gene 2	Regulation of cholesterol biosynthesis
SCAP	SREBF Chaperone	Regulation of cholesterol biosynthesis

FA: fatty acid, VLCPUFA: very long chain polyunsaturated fatty acid, LCPUFA: long chain polyunsaturated fatty acid, TAG: triacylglycerol.

## 3.5 Statistical methods

#### 3.5.1 Variables

The plasma FA levels are continuous variables, but in the present study they are grouped and tested as categorical variables in the form of high and low groups based on plasma n-3 level, n-6/n-3 ratio and SFA/PUFA ratio. The included genes, measured as mRNA levels, are continuous variables. The normally distributed data is presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviations (SD), whereas the non-normally distributed data is presented as median and minimum and maximum values.

#### 3.5.2 Statistical analysis

Processing of data and statistical analysis was performed using SPSS version 22 statistical package for Mac (IBM Corp, Armonk, NY, USA, 2013) and Microsoft Excel (Excel 2011, version 14.4.5, Microsoft Corporation). Parametric tests were performed on the normally distributed variables, whereas non-parametric tests were performed on the non-normal distributed variables. The parametric test, *independent samples t-test* is suitable for normally distributed variables when testing for differences in the mean value of two groups of the same variable. The *Mann-Whitney U test* is the non-parametric alternative (Pallant, 2013). For comparisons of two groups, *independent samples t-test* was performed when data was normally distributed, whereas *Mann-Whitney U test* was performed on the non-normally distributed variables.

Comparison of characteristics between subjects with low and high plasma n-3 level and fatty acid ratios was performed by comparing subjects with high and low plasma n-3 level, n-6/n-3 ratio and SFA/PUFA ratio using *independent samples t-test* or *Mann-Whitney U test*. The gene expression levels were log 2-transformed and *independent samples t-test* was performed to evaluate differences in gene expression between subjects with high and low plasma n-3 level, n-6/n-3 and SFA/PUFA ratio. *Spearman's Rho* analysis was performed to investigate the linear relationship between variables. The statistical significance level was defined as p-values <0.05 in all tests (2-sided).

## 3.6 Research ethics

In the original study written informed consent was obtained from all participants. The study was approved by the Regional Committee of Medical Ethics (approval no. 6.2008.2215) (Appendix 1) and by the Norwegian social Science Data Services (approval no. 21924). The original study was conducted in accordance with the declaration of Helsinki.

## **4** Results

## 4.1 Subject characteristics

#### 4.1.1 Descriptive data

A total of 54 normal-weight healthy subjects were included in the present study. A majority of the participants were women (72.2% women and 27.8% men). Subjects were between 18 and 50 years (26.8 $\pm$ 7.2 years) with a stable weight ( $\pm$ 5%) for the last three months. Serum lipid levels were within the normal range in accordance to the reference values for serum lipids at Fürst Medical Laboratory (Fürst Medical Laboratory, Oslo, Norway) (Table 3).

	All	Reference values
	(n=54)	
Male/Female (n)	15/39	
Age (years)	26.8±7.2	
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	22.6±2.6	
TC (mmol/L)	4.8±0.9	2.9-6.1/3.3-6.9*
TAG (mmol/L)	1.0±0.6	<2.60
LDL-C (mmol/L)	2.7±0.8	1.2-4.3/1.4-4.8*
HDL-C (mmol/L)	1.5±0.4	0.8-2.1 /1-2.8**

Table 3. Descriptive characteristics of the 54 participants

BMI, body mass index; TC, total cholesterol; TAG, triacylglycerol; LDL-C, LDL cholesterol; HDL-C, HDL cholesterol. Values are presented as number of male and females and mean ±SD.

\* Reference values for serum lipids at Fürst Medical Laboratory, for age group 0-29 years/30-49 years.

\*\* Reference values for serum lipids at Fürst Medical Laboratory, for male/female.

## 4.1.2 Fatty acid profiles

The amount of individual FA is given as the percentage of total plasma FA (Table 4). The dominating individual FA was LA with a mean level of 28.8% of the total plasma FA, across subjects. The mean total plasma n-3 level, including ALA, EPA, DPA and DHA was 6.3% of the total plasma FAs. In addition, the mean of the FA ratios were also dominated by n-6 FAs, including LA and AA. The mean of the total n-6/n-3 ratio was 6.6, whereas the mean of the

SFA/PUFA ratio (myristic acid, palmitic acid and stearic acid/ALA, EPA, DPA, DHA, LA and ALA) was 0.8%.

Fatty acid	Serum proportions
	(% of total fatty acids)
Myristic acid (14:0)	0.9±0.4
Palmitic acid (16:0)	22.1±2.1
Stearic acid (18:0)	7.9±1
Oleic acid (18:1)	19.5±2.6
LA (18:2n-6)	28.8±3.6
ALA (18:3n-3)	0.5±0.1
AA (20:4n-6)	5.9±1.1
EPA (20:5n-3)	1.9±1.2
DPA (22:5n-3)	0.6±0.2
DHA (22:6n-3)	3.2±1.1
Total n-3	6.3±2.4
n-6/n-3 ratio	6.6±2.9
SFA/PUFA ratio	0.8±0.2

*Table 4.* Plasma fatty acid profile of the subjects (n=54)

LA, linoleic acid; ALA, Alpha-linolenic acid; AA, arachidonic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; DPA, docosapentaenoic acid; DHA, docosahexaenoic acid.

Total n-3: ALA, EPA, DPA, DHA; total n-6: LA, ALA; total SFA: myristic acid, palmitic acid, stearic acid; total PUFA: ALA, EPA, DPA, DHA, LA and AA.

Values are presented as mean ±SD.

## 4.1.3 Inclusion of subjects with high and low plasma n-3 level and fatty acid ratios

Subjects were divided into groups based on high or low plasma n-3 level, high and low plasma n-6/n-3 ratio and high and low plasma SFA/PUFA ratio by arranging samples from highest to lowest values of these categories. The subjects were divided into three groups by using percentiles. Subjects in the highest 70<sup>th</sup> and lowest 30<sup>th</sup> percentile of level and ratio groups used for testing, and consisted of 16 subjects in each group. Mean values, cut-off

points and minimum and maximum values for the included subjects in high and low total plasma n-3 level, n-6/n-3 and SFA/PUFA ratio are listed in Table 5.

	Total n-3 level		n-6/n-3 ratio		SFA/PUFA ratio	
	Lowest level (n=16)	Highest level (n=16)	Lowest ratio (n=16)	Highest ratio (n=16)	Lowest ratio (n=16)	Highest ratio (n=16)
Mean ±SD	3.5±0.4	9.1±1.0	3.6±0.4	10.5±1.4	0.6±0.0	0.9±0.2
Min. – max. values	2.4-4.3	8.9±11.0	2.9-4.1	8.4-13.3	0.6-0.7	0.8-1.7
Cut-off points	4.3	8.9	4.1	8.4	0.7	0.8

Table 5. Mean, min.-max and cut-off values in subjects with low and high plasma n-3 level and fatty acid ratios

SD: standard deviation

Total n-3: ALA, EPA, DPA, DHA; total n-6: LA, ALA; total SFA: myristic acid, palmitic acid, stearic acid; total PUFA: ALA, EPA, DPA, DHA, LA and AA.

# 4.2 Comparison of characteristics between subjects with low and high plasma n-3 level and fatty acid ratios

Subjects with high plasma n-3 level had a significantly lower level of oleic acid compared to subjects with low plasma n-3 level (P<0.01). The levels of EPA, DPA and DHA were significantly higher in subjects with high plasma n-3 level and n-6/n-3 ratio compared to subjects with low plasma n-3 level and n-6/n-3 ratio (P<0.01 for both). The oleic acid and LA levels were higher in subjects with high n-6/n-3 ratio compared to subjects with low n-6/n-3 ratio (P<0.01 in both). The level of TAG, myristic acid, palmitic acid and oleic acid were higher in subjects with high SFA/PUFA ratio compared to subjects with low SFA/PUFA ratio (respectively, P<0.01, P<0.01, P<0.01, and P<0.01), whereas LA levels were lower in subjects with high SFA/PUFA ratio compared to subjects with low SFA/PUFA ratio (P<0.01). No other differences in characteristics and lipid profiles between subjects in with high and low plasma n-3 level and FA ratios were found (Table 6).

	Total n-3			n-6/n-3			SFA/PUFA		
	level			ratio			ratio		
	Lowest	Highest	Р	Lowest	Highest	Р	Lowest	Highest	Р
	level	level		ratio	ratio		ratio	ratio	
	(n=16)	(n=16)		(n=16)	(n=16)		(n=16)	(n=16)	
Age (years)	24.5 (21-49)	25.0 (20-47)	0.64	24.5 (20-47)	24.5 (20-49)	0.46	27.5 (20-35)	25.5 (20-47)	0.60
BMI (kg/m2)	23.1±3.2	22±2.0	0.24	21.9±1.9	23.3±3.2	0.13	22.3±2.4	23.2±3.1	0.41
TAG (mmol/L)	0.98 (0.6-4.4)	0.77 (0.5-4.4)	0.22	0.9 (0.5-1.9)	0.9 (0.6-1.8)	0.84	0.7 (0.5-1.1)	1.0 (0.5-4.4)	<0.01**
LDL-C (mmol/L)	2.9±0.6	2.7±0.9	0.69	2.7±1.0	2.8±0.6	0.65	2.6±0.8	2.4±0.6	0.30
HDL-C (mmol/L)	1.5 (1.0-2.3)	1.6 (1.0-2.4)	0.68	1.5 (1.0-2.3)	1.4 (0.9-2.4)	0.75	1.6 (1.0-2.1)	1.5 (1.0-2.4)	0.59
TC (mmol/L)	5.1±0.9	4.9±1.0	0.66	4.8±1.1	4.9±0.9	0.77	4.8±0.7	4.6±0.8	0.92
Myristic acid (14:0)	1.0 (0.6-3.1)	1.0 (0.5-2.0)	0.71	0.9 (0.5-2.0)	0.9 (0.6-1.3)	0.79	0.6 (0.5-1.1)	1.0 (0.7-3.1)	<0.01**
Palmitic acid (16:0)	21.5 (19.8-31.8)	20.9 (20.2-26.7)	0.37	21.5 (20.2-26.7)	21.5 (19.8-24.8)	0.73	20.4 (19.4-22.0)	24.1 (21.0-31.8)	<0.01**
Stearic acid (18:0)	8.0±1.1	8.2±1.1	0.66	8.2±1.1	8.1±1.0	0.80	7.8±0.6	8.1±1.1	0.45
Oleic acid (18:1)	20.9±2.3	18±2.2	<0.01**	18.6±2.3	20.7±2.2	<0.01**	17.4±1.8	21±2.6	<0.01**
LA (18:2n-6)	29.3±4.2	27.5±3.6	0.19	26.5±3.2	30.1±2.9	<0.01**	31.8±2.0	24.6±2.6	<0.01**
ALA (18:3n-3)	0.5 (0.4-0.9)	0.5 (0.4-0.8)	0.97	0.5 (0.4-0.9)	0.5 (0.4-0.8)	0.82	0.5 (0.4-0.9)	$0.5 \pm (0.4 - 0.8)$	0.82
AA (20:4n-6)	6.2±1.2	5.8±0.8	0.27	5.7±0.8	6.3±1.1	0.11	6.4±0.9	5.9±1.4	0.26
EPA (20:5n-3)	0.6 (0.3-0.8)	3.3 (2.4-4.7)	<0.01**	3.2 (2.3-4.7)	0.6 (0.3-0.8)	<0.01**	2.4 (0.5-4.7)	1.7 (0.5-4.7)	0.24
DPA (22:5n-3)	0.5±0.1	0.8±0.1	<0.01**	0.8±0.1	0.5±0.1	<0.01**	0.7±0.1	0.6±0.2	0.54
DHA (22:6n-3)	1.9 (1.5-2.7)	4.3 (4.1-5.3)	<0.01**	4.3 (3.6-5.3)	1.9 (1.5-2.7)	<0.01**	0.24	3.2 (1.5-5.3)	4.0 (1.5-5.3)

Table 6. Comparison of characteristics between subjects with low and high plasma n-3 level and fatty acid ratios

BMI, body mass index; TAG, triacylglycerol; LDL-C, LDL cholesterol; HDL, HDL cholesterol; TC, total cholesterol; LA, linoleic acid; ALA, alpha-linolenic acid; AA, arachidonic acid; EPA,

eicosapentaenoic acid; DPA, docosapentaenoic acid; DHA, docosahexaenoic acid.

Total n-3: ALA, EPA, DPA, DHA; total n-6: LA, ALA; total SFA: myristic acid, palmitic acid, stearic acid; total PUFA: ALA, EPA, DPA, DHA, LA and AA.

Values are presented as mean  $\pm$ SD or median and min- and max.

\* Differences between the groups were calculated using independent samples t-test or Mann-Whitney U Test. P-values <0.05 were considered significant.

\*\* P-values <0.01.

## 4.3 Gene expression analysis

43 genes were selected for analysis based on their involvement in various aspects of lipid metabolism. The results showed that nine genes were significantly different expressed between subjects with high and low plasma n-3 level, n-6/n-3- and SFA/PUFA ratio (Table 7). The SFA/PUFA ratio was associated with the highest number of differentially expressed genes (seven genes), followed by the total n-6/n-3 ratio (two genes), and the total n-3 level (one gene). The level of six gene transcripts were increased in the high group, compared to the low level or ratio group. Three genes showed decreased gene transcript levels, compared to the low level or ratio group.

A summary of the results from the gene expression analysis is presented in Table 7. The mean mRNA values for the significantly different expressed genes in subjects with high and low n-3 level, n-6/n-3- or SFA/PUFA ratio is presented in Table 8.

Group	Differentially expressed	Higher gene transcript level	Lower gene transcript level
Total n-3	1		1
n-6/n-3 ratio	2	2	
SFA/PUFA ratio	6	4	2

Table 7. Number of differentially expressed genes

Total n-3: ALA, EPA, DPA, DHA; total n-6: LA, ALA; total SFA: myristic acid, palmitic acid, stearic acid; total PUFA: ALA, EPA, DPA, DHA, LA and AA.

Official	Gene name	FA level or	mRNA low	mRNA high	Р
Gene symbol		ratio	level or ratio	level or ratio	
CETP	Cholesteryl ester transfer protein	Total n-3	128.9±1.1	123.0±1.1	0.02*
		n-6/n-3	123.6±1.1	129.0±1.1	0.04*
PPARG	Peroxisome proliferator-activated	n-6/n-3	108.0±1.0	112.2±1.1	0.04*
	receptor gamma				
FABP5b	Fatty acid binding protein 5	SFA/PUFA	124.2±1.1	133.2±1.1	< 0.01**
FABP5c		SFA/PUFA	281.9±1.2	332.0±1.2	< 0.01**
CPT1A	Carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1A	SFA/PUFA	137.8±1.1	147.7±1.1	<0.01**
INSIG2	Insulin induced gene 2	SFA/PUFA	270.3±1.1	283.3±1.1	0.02*
SOAT1	Sterol O-acyltransferase 1	SFA/PUFA	152.1±1.1	165.9±1.1	0.02*
CRAT	Carnitine O-acetyltransferase	SFA/PUFA	145.3±1.1	136.8±1.1	0.01*
ACOT1	Acyl-CoA thioesterase 1	SFA/PUFA	201.6±1.1	219.1±1.1	0.02*
PLIN5	Perilipin 5	SFA/PUFA	1195.8±1.3	935.2±1.4	0.03*

**Table 8.** Differentially expressed genes between subjects with high and low plasma n-3 level and fatty acid ratios. Data is given as mean  $\pm$  SD of the normalized mRNA level.

CETP, Cholesteryl ester transfer protein; PPARG, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma; FABP5, fatty acid binding protein 5; CPT1A, carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1A; INSIG2, insulin induced gene 2; SOAT1, sterol Oacyltransferase 1; CRAT, carnitine O-acetyltransferase; ACOT1, acyl-CoA thioesterase 1, PLIN5: perilipin 5. Total n-3: ALA, EPA, DPA, DHA; total n-6: LA, ALA; total SFA: myristic acid, palmitic acid, stearic acid; total PUFA: ALA, EPA, DPA, DHA, LA and AA.

\* Differences between the groups were calculated using independent samples t-test. P-values <0.05 were considered significant.

\*\* P-values < 0.01.

Subjects with high plasma n-3 level had lower mRNA levels of CETP compared to subjects with low plasma n-3 level (P=0.02) (Table 8). The mRNA levels of CETP in the plasma n-3 level groups is shown in Figure 7.



**Figure 7.** Boxplot of the cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) mRNA levels in the total plasma n-3 groups. The figure shows the mRNA level of CETP of subjects in the low, middle and high plasma n-3 groups. Median, 25- and 75 percentiles are set as lower, middle and upper line in the boxes. Minimum and maximum values is indicated by "whiskers". mRNA is given as normalized levels.

Subjects with high n-6/n-3 ratio had higher mRNA levels of CETP compared to subjects in the low n-6/n-3 ratio (P=0.04) (Table 8). The mRNA level of PPARG were higher in subjects with high n-6/n-3 ratio compared to subjects with low n-6/n-3 ratio (P=0.04) (Table 8). The mRNA levels of CETP and PPARG in the plasma n-6/n-3 ratio groups is shown in Figure 8A and B.



**Figure 8A and 8B.** Boxplot of the cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) and peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma (PPARG) mRNA levels in the n-6/n-3 ratio groups. The figure shows the mRNA levels of subjects in in the low, middle and high n-6/n-3 ratio. Median, 25- and 75 percentiles are set as lower, middle and upper line in the boxes. Minimum and maximum values is indicated by "whiskers". mRNA is given as normalized levels. Outliers, defined in SPSS as cases more than 1.5 box-lengths from the edge of the box, are marked by a circle. Extreme values, defined in SPSS as cases bore than three box-lengths from the edge of the box, are marked by a cross.

Seven genes were significantly different expressed between subjects with high SFA/PUFA ratio compared with subjects with low SFA/PUFA ratio. FABP5b (P<0.01), FABP5c (P<0.01), CPT1A (P<0.01), INSIG2 (P=0.02), SOAT1 (P=0.02) and ACOT1 (P=0.02) showed higher mRNA levels in subjects with high SFA/PUFA ratio compared to subjects with low SFA/PUFA ratio. CRAT (P<0.01) and PLIN5 (P=0.03) showed lower mRNA levels in subjects with high SFA/PUFA ratio compared to subjects with low SFA/PUFA ratio. The mRNA levels of the significantly different expressed genes in the SFA/PUFA ratio groups is shown in Figure 9A-H.





**Figure 9A-H.** Boxplot of the fatty acid binding protein 5 (FABP), carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1A (CPT1A), insulin induced gene 2 (INSIG2), sterol O-acyltransferase 1 (SOAT1), carnitine O-acetyltransferase (CRAT), acyl-CoA thioesterase 1 (ACOT1) and perilipin 5 (PLIN5) mRNA levels in the SFA/PUFA ratio groups. The figure shows the mRNA levels of subjects in the low, middle and high n-6/n-3 ratio groups. Median, 25- and 75 percentiles are set as lower, middle and upper line in the boxes. Minimum and maximum values is indicated by "whiskers". mRNA is given as normalized levels. Outliers, defined in SPSS as cases more than 1.5 box-lengths from the edge of the box, are marked by a cross.

## 4.4 Correlation analysis

The correlation between mRNA level of CETP and plasma n-3 level was found to be negative (P=0.05). Positive correlation was found between mRNA levels of CETP and the n-6/n-3 ratio (P=0.04), and negative correlation were seen between the mRNA level of FABP5 and the n-6/n-3 ratio (P=0.02). FABP5, SOAT1 and ACOT showed a positive correlation (respectively, P=0.04, P<0.01 and P=0.02), whereas CRAT and PLIN showed a negative correlation with the SFA/PUFA ratio (respectively, P=0.05 and P=0.02) (Table 9).

*Table 9.* Correlations between significantly regulated gene transcripts and plasma n-3 level, n-6/n-3- or SFA/PUFA ratio.

	Plasma n-3	n-6/n-3	SFA/PUFA
	level	ratio	ratio
СЕТР	273*	.278*	
FABP5		308*	.278*
SOAT1			.351**
CRAT			273*
ACOT1			.328*
PLIN5			328*

CETP, Cholesteryl ester transfer protein; FABP, fatty acid binding protein 5; SOAT1, sterol O-acyltransferase 1; CRAT, carnitine O-acetyltransferase; ACOT1, acyl-CoA thioesterase 1; PLIN5, perilipin 5.

Total n-3: ALA, EPA, DPA, DHA; total n-6: LA, ALA; total SFA: myristic acid, palmitic acid, stearic acid; total PUFA: ALA, EPA, DPA, DHA, LA and AA.

Values are presented as Spearman Rho.

\* Correlations were considered significant with P-values <0.05 (2-tailed).

\*\* P-values <0.01 (2-tailed).

The correlation between TAG levels and mRNA level of ACOT1 was found to be positive (P=0.01) (Table 10). No other significant correlations between significantly regulated gene transcripts and BMI or serum lipids were found.

Table 10. Correlations between significantly regulated gene transcripts and BMI or serum lipids

	ACOT1
TAG	.344*
ACOTI and CoA this astarage 1, TAC trianylaly and	

ACOT1: acyl-CoA thioesterase 1; TAG, triacylglycerol.

Values are presented as Spearman Rho.

\* Correlations were considered significant with P-values <0.05 (2-tailed)

## **5** Discussion

In the present study, the impact of plasma FAs on the expression of genes related to lipid metabolism in PBMCs in healthy subjects was investigated. The results showed that of the 43 genes included in the study, nine were differently expressed in subjects with high plasma n-3 level, n-6/n-3 ratio and SFA/PUFA ratio compared to low level or ratio. Furthermore, six of the regulated gene transcripts were also significantly correlated with either plasma n-3 level, n-6/n-3 ratio or SFA/PUFA ratio.

# 5.1 Impact of fatty acid levels and ratios on expression of gene transcripts

Nine of the 43 included genes were significantly different expressed between subjects in high and low groups. The SFA/PUFA ratio was associated with the highest number of differently expressed genes (seven), followed by the n-6/n-3 ratio (two) and total plasma n-3 level (one). To our knowledge there are few studies on the relation between plasma FA levels or ratios and the expression of genes related to lipid metabolism. The genes were selected on the basis of their representation of multiple pathways in lipid metabolism as shown in Figure 10.



*Figure 10.* Overview of significantly regulated genes in various aspects of lipid metabolism. The regulated genes are in red, whereas their role in lipid metabolism is in purple. The plasma FA group regulating the gene transcript is written in green.

CETP, Cholesteryl ester transfer protein; PPARG, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma; FABP5, Fatty acid binding protein 5; CPT1A, carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1A; INSIG2, insulin induced gene 2; SOAT1, sterol O-acyltransferase 1; CRAT, carnitine O-acetyltransferase; ACOT1, acyl-CoA thioesterase 1; PLIN5: perilipin 5, NEFA: non-esterified fatty acids; TAG: triacylglycerol; LPL, lipoprotein lipase; HDL, highdensity lipoprotein, CE, cholesteryl ester; RXR: retionid receptor alpha; LXR, liver X receptor; PPRE, PPAR response element; FA.ox, fatty acid oxidation; E.R, endoplasmic reticulum.

Total n-3: ALA, EPA, DPA, DHA; n-6: LA, ALA; SFA: myristic acid, palmitic acid, stearic acid; PUFA: ALA, EPA, DPA, DHA, LA and AA

# 5.1.1 Significantly regulated gene transcripts in subjects with high and low plasma n-3 level and n-6/n-3 ratio

The gene expression analysis showed that CETP was the only significantly different expressed gene transcript when the subjects with high or low plasma n-3 level were compared. Subjects with high plasma n-3 level had a lower mRNA level of CETP compared to subjects with low plasma n-3 level. An inverse tendency was observed in the n-6/n-3 ratio, where subjects with high plasma n-6/n-3 ratio had higher CETP mRNA level compared with subjects with low plasma n-6/n-3 ratio. In addition, the CETP gene was found to be significantly negatively correlated with the plasma n-3 level and significantly positively correlated with the plasma n-6/n-3 ratio.

The circulating transfer protein CETP plays an important role in the cholesterol metabolism by shuttling CE from HDL particles to lipoproteins, mainly in exchange for TAG (Barter, 2000; Frayn, 2010; Marotti et al., 1993; Plump et al., 1999). One consequence of these CETPmediated transfers of CE from HDL is the reduction in the cholesterol content in HDL and size of HDL particles (Rye, Clay, & Barter, 1999). Evidence suggests that partial or complete CETP deficiency has a powerful effect on raising HDL-C as well as lowering LDL-C, resulting in a reduced risk of CVD (Clark et al., 2004; Van der Steeg et al., 2004). However, no significant correlation between CETP and plasma TC, HDL-C or LDL-C was found in the present study.

In a previous study on the effect of AA, EPA and DHA on the expression of CETP in HepG2 cells, a decrease in CETP mRNA was found to be correlated with increases in the degree of unsaturation of the acyl carbon chain in FAs (Hirano, Igarashi, Kondo, Itakura, & Matsumoto, 2001). This is partially in accordance with the results of the present study, with n-3 having a high degree of unsaturation. Furthermore, several supplementary studies have investigated the effect of FAs on CETP. A recently published RCT study on healthy males showed that intake of flaxseed oil, which is rich in the n-3 FA ALA, lowered CETP concentrations (Kawakami et al., 2015). Satoh et al. showed that men with diabetes had decreased CETP activity after supplementation of EPA, whereas PUFA, especially n-3 FA, was negatively correlated with CETP activity in women with diabetes in another study (Satoh et al., 2007; Smaoui et al., 2006). This is consistent with the results from the present study, where CETP expression level was significantly negatively correlated with plasma n-3 level. The level of plasma n-3 FAs seems to have an impact on CETP activity both in healthy subjects and in subjects with

diabetes. A high plasma n-3 FA level may decrease the expression of CETP, whereas a high plasma n-6/n-3 ratio may increase the expression of CETP. The role of n-6 FAs remains unclear.

Over the last decade, great effort has been made to develop CETP inhibitors due to its inverse association with CVD risk (Chapman, Le Goff, Guerin, & Kontush, 2010; Charles & Kane, 2012; Clark, 2006; Clark, Ruggeri, Cunningham, & Bamberger, 2006; Miyares & Davis, 2012). A RCT study a CETP inhibitor was given to 15 067 subjects with increased CVD risk. The results showed a 72.1% increase in HDL-C and 24.9% decrease in LDL-C. However, the study was terminated due to a 25% increase in CVD events and 58% increase in deaths (P. J. Barter et al., 2007). Another RCT study showed a 138% increase in HLD-C and a 39.8% reduction in LDL-C, with no significant differences in adverse events found (Cannon et al., 2010). The first trials with the CETP inhibitors failed to reduce CVD events. However, new CETP inhibitors with more favourable effects on lipids are studied in ongoing clinical trials, and may give an answer to whether the CETP inhibitors may be effective for reduced CVD risk (Kosmas, DeJesus, Rosario, & Vittorio, 2016).

Results from the present study indicate that a high plasma n-3 level decrease the expression of CETP, which is associated with reduced CVD risk, whereas a high n-6/n-3 ratio may have the opposite effect by increasing the expression of CETP, which may increase the CVD risk (Figure 11). These findings indicate that plasma FAs is potential targets for regulating genes related to CVD risk, such as CETP.

The mRNA levels of PPARG was significantly different expressed between subjects with high and low plasma n-6/n-3 ratio. PPARG agonists modulate genes involved in the whole lipid metabolism, including genes involved in FA uptake (FABP4), lipid uptake (CD36) and cholesterol efflux (LXRα) (Chawla et al., 2001; Tontonoz & Spiegelman, 2008). In the present study, the PPARG mRNA level was higher in subjects with high plasma n-6/n-3 ratio compared with subjects with low plasma n-6/n-3 ratio. A previous study showed that intake of EPA increased the mRNA level of PPARG in adipose tissue, whereas LA, DHA and total n-6 had no effect (Chambrier et al., 2002). Huang et al. recently published a study suggesting that diets enriched with fish oil up-regulated PPARG in mice (Huang, Hou, Yeh, & Yeh, 2015). These differences may be ascribed to different organs as we have utilized PBMC in the current study. Collectively, plasma level of PUFA may modulate the expression of PPARG. However, the exact impact of plasma n-6 level, n-3 level or the n-6/n-3 ratio on the expression

of PPARG is currently not clear. Furthermore, the PPARG has been shown to have antiatherogenic properties in macrophages and adipocytes, having protective effects against atherosclerosis and CVD development (Duval, Chinetti, Trottein, Fruchart, & Staels, 2002; Ricote, Valledor, & Glass, 2004).

Results from the present study indicate that a high plasma n-6/n-3 ratio increase the expression of PPARG, which is associated with antiatherogenic properties and possible reduced CVD risk (Figure 11). This is in accordance with previous studies which found that a high plasma n-6 level or n-6/n-3 ratio does not increase the CVD risk, as previously believed (Griffin, 2008; Lucas, 2015).

## 5.1.2 Significantly regulated gene transcripts in subjects with high and low SFA/PUFA ratio

The plasma SFA/PUFA ratio was associated with the highest number of significantly different expressed genes. Seven genes were differently regulated between subjects with high and low plasma SFA/PUFA ratio. The FABPs are expressed in adipocytes and are suggested to be central regulators of lipid metabolism through their control of FA metabolism, transport and storage (Storch & Thumser, 2010). In the present study, subjects with high plasma SFA/PUFA ratio had higher FABP5 mRNA level compared to subjects with low plasma SFA/PUFA ratio. These results were supported by the correlation analysis, where significant positive correlation between FABP5 and the plasma SFA/PUFA ratio was found. Literature on how FABP5 is regulated by plasma FAs is scarce. However, in a previous study the preferable ligand for FABP5 was stearic acid, whereas unsaturation seems to reduce affinity (Hohoff, Börchers, Rüstow, Spener, & van Tilbeurgh, 1999).

FABP5 has been shown to be upregulated in several states with disturbed lipid profiles as well as being involved in the pathologies of atherosclerosis (Hertzel & Bernlohr, 2000; Hong et al., 2011; Makowski & Hotamisligil, 2004; Yeung et al., 2008). In addition, a clinical research showed that FABP5 is a new circulating biomarker associated with increased CVD risk, and may contribute to atherosclerosis in humans (Hertzel & Bernlohr, 2000; Hong et al., 2011; Makowski & Hotamisligil, 2004; Yeung et al., 2008). Results from the present study indicate that a high plasma SFA/PUFA ratio may increase the expression of FABP5, which is associated with increased atherosclerosis and CVD risk.

ACOT1 is thought to play an important role in lipid metabolism, and is primarily responsible for the metabolism of long chain acyl-CoAs (Brocker, Carpenter, Nebert, & Vasiliou, 2010; Dongol et al., 2007; Hunt, Solaas, Kase, & Alexson, 2002). In the present study, the mRNA level of ACOT1 was higher in subjects with high plasma SFA/PUFA ratio compared to subjects with low plasma SFA/PUFA ratio. This is in accordance with previous animal studies, where diets rich in SFA showed to increase both protein and mRNA levels of ACOT1 (Cole et al., 2011; Durgan et al., 2006; Fujita et al., 2011). The mRNA levels of ACOT1 were also found to be increased after supplementation with oleic acid (Durgan et al., 2006). In the present study, the oleic acid level was significantly higher in subjects with high plasma SFA/PUFA ratio compared to subjects with low plasma SFA/PUFA ratio. Whether the effect on ACOT1 mRNA level could be ascribed the SFA/PUFA ratio or the oleic acid level or both is therefore not known.

Increased ACOT1 expression may result in accumulation of acyl-CoAs, causing production of free radicals and mitochondrial stress, possibly increasing the risk of CVD development (Mitchell et al., 2008; Schnabel & Blankenberg, 2007). This is supported by the correlation analysis in the present study, where significantly positive correlation between ACOT1 and TAG level was found. This may be because elevated plasma TAG levels is associated with increased CVD risk (Lottenberg et al., 2012). The results from the present study indicate that a high plasma SFA/PUFA ratio may increase expression of ACOT1, which is associated with elevated TAG levels and possible increased CVD risk.

The PLIN5 gene suppresses lipolysis, in addition to regulating intracellular FA fluxes and most likely reprogramming cells to a more "oxidative phenotype" capable of dealing with high lipid loads (Kimmel & Sztalryd, 2014; Mason & Watt, 2015). In the present study, the mRNA level of PLIN5 was lower in subjects with high plasma SFA/PUFA ratio compared to subjects with low plasma SFA/PUFA ratio. In addition, significant negative correlation between PLIN5 and the plasma SFA/PUFA ratio was found. These results may indicate that a high SFA/PUFA ratio lowers the mRNA and protein level of PLIN5 and thereby preventing the PLIN5 in regulating FA fluxes to deal with high lipid loads. A recently published study identified a PPRE in the PLIN5 gene, which is essential for FA stimulated expression. This may indicate that PLIN5 is as a direct PPAR target gene (Bindesbøll, Berg, Arntsen, Nebb, & Dalen, 2013). Findings from the previous- and the present study makes the PLIN5 gene an interesting target for future research, since it seems to be regulated by plasma FAs.

The effect of plasma FAs on PLIN5 and CVD risk remains unclear. However, a recently published study observed defects in hepatic lipid storage and increased lipolysis when PLIN5 was deficient in mice. The increased lipolysis resulted in elevated intracellular NEFAs, and proposed that PLIN5 is required to maintain lipid metabolism in the liver (Wang et al., 2015). Results from the present study indicate that a high plasma SFA/PUFA ratio may decrease the expression of PLIN5, which is associated with elevated NEFAs and possible increased CVD risk.



**Figure 11.** Possible relations between significantly regulated genes and cardiovascular disease. The green arrows means there is a possible reduced CVD risk. The red arrows means there is a possible increased CVD risk. Blue arrows means there is a possible increased CVD risk, but the link between plasma FAs, gene and CVD risk remains unclear.

CVD, cardiovascular disease; CETP, cholesteryl ester transfer protein; PPARG, peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma; CPT1A, carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1A; FABP5, Fatty acid binding protein 5; SOAT1, sterol O-acyltransferase 1; CRAT, carnitine O-acetyltransferase; ACOT1, acyl-CoA thioesterase 1; PLIN5: perilipin 5; INSIG2, insulin induced gene 2.

Total n-3: ALA, EPA, DPA, DHA; n-6: LA, ALA; SFA: myristic acid, palmitic acid, stearic acid; PUFA: ALA, EPA, DPA, DHA, LA and AA.

CPT1A is found in the liver, and is essential for  $\beta$ -oxidation in the mitochondria (McGarry et al., 1991). In the present study, mRNA level of CPT1A was significantly higher in subjects with high plasma SFA/PUFA ratio compared to subjects with low plasma SFA/PUFA ratio. Several previous studies have shown that ALA, DHA and fish oil increase mRNA and protein levels of CPT1A in HepG2 cells, adipocytes and PBMCs (Bouchard-Mercier, Rudkowska, Lemieux, Couture, & Vohl, 2014; Fukumitsu et al., 2013; Popeijus et al., 2014; Zhou, Wu,

Chen, Wang, & Wang, 2015). This is contrary to results from the present study, and may be due to differences is study population and design. Additionally, none of the previous studies investigated the effect of the SFA/PUFA ratio on the gene expression level.

Several studies have shown that increased CPT1A activity is associated with an elevated level of HDL-C, reduced adiposity and reduction in TAG level, resulting in reduced CVD risk (Bouchard-Mercier et al., 2014; Lemas et al., 2012; Rajakumar et al., 2009). In the present study, a high SFA/PUFA ratio increased the expression of CPT1A, which is associated with possible reduced CVD risk.

Another differently regulated gene related to β-oxidation was CRAT. In addition to buffer mitochondrial acetyl-CoA pool, CRAT regenerates free CoA (Seiler et al., 2014). In the present study, the mRNA level of CRAT was significantly lower in subjects with high plasma SFA/PUFA ratio compared to subjects with low plasma SFA/PUFA ratio. These results were supported by the correlation analysis, where significant negative correlation between CRAT and plasma SFA/PUFA ratio was found. There is a limited number of studies published on the effect of FAs and regulation of CRAT. One study showed that chronic overexposure of a 1:1 mixture of oleic and palmitic acid restricted the availability of CRAT (Seiler et al., 2014). This is consistent with results in the present study, which show a lower mRNA level in subjects with high plasma SFA/PUFA ratio compared to subjects with low plasma SFA/PUFA ratio. Palmitic acid is included in the ratio, and this may indicate that SFA not only antagonizes CRAT activity, but also reduces its mRNA level. The biological relevance of this finding needs to be investigated.

A previous study suggested that chronic inhibition of CRAT in the context of overnutrition may contribute to glucose intolerance, which has shown to increase CVD risk (Ford, Zhao, & Li, 2010; Seiler et al., 2014). Although the previous study did not establish a direct link between reduced CRAT activity and CVD risk, findings in the present study indicate that high plasma SFA/PUFA ratio may increase the expression of CRAT, which is associated with glucose intolerance and a possible increased CVD risk.

In the present study, the mRNA level of SOAT1 was significantly higher in subjects with high plasma SFA/PUFA ratio compared to subjects with low plasma SFA/PUFA ratio. In addition, positive correlation between SOAT1 and the plasma SFA/PUFA ratio was found. SOAT1 is the enzyme that catalyses the conversion of cholesterol to CE, and is allosterically regulated

by cholesterol. Accumulation of CE in macrophages causes these cells to appear foamy, and is an indication of early stages in atherosclerosis (Chang et al., 2009). Previous studies have shown that n-3 intake decreases SOAT1 expression in dyslipidemic men and breast cancer cells, suggesting a cholesterol-lowering effect (Antalis, Arnold, Lee, Buhman, & Siddiqui, 2009; Schmidt et al., 2012). This is consistent with results from the present study, where high SFA/PUFA ratio was found to increase the expression of SOAT1. This may indicate that high plasma SFA/PUFA ratio increases cholesterol levels.

Inhibition of SOAT1 is shown to directly or indirectly diminish foamy macrophage formation, thus reducing incidents of atherosclerotic CVD (Chang et al., 2009). Several studies support the concept that upregulation of SOAT1 expression is closely associated with the beginning and progression of atherosclerosis in animals and perhaps in humans as well (Daugherty, Webb, Rateri, & King, 2005; Furukawa et al., 2004; Kalbak, 1972; Li et al., 2004; Yang et al., 2001). The results from the present study indicate that a high plasma SFA/PUFA ratio may increase the expression of SOAT1 which is associated with development of atherosclerosis and possible increased CVD risk.

Another significantly different expressed gene related to cholesterol metabolism was INSIG2, which plays a key role in cholesterol homeostasis (Engelking et al., 2005). The INSIG2 binds to HMG-CoA reductase, thereby inhibiting SREBP activity, which prevents transcription of genes involved in cholesterol uptake and synthesis (Radhakrishnan, Ikeda, Kwon, Brown, & Goldstein, 2007; Sever et al., 2003; Yabe, Brown, & Goldstein, 2002). In the present study, the mRNA level of INSIG2 was higher in subjects with high plasma SFA/PUFA ratio compared to subjects with low plasma SFA/PUFA ratio. There is a limited amount of literature on how plasma FAs regulate expression of INSIG2. However, a recent transcriptomic study published in 2016 showed that intake of fish oil corrected the increased expression of INSIG2 caused by feeding rats a high fat and cholesterol diet (Yuan et al., 2016). This is in accordance with the present study, as the total PUFA group contains several of the same FAs as fish oil. No studies on the direct link between plasma FAs effect on INSIG2 and CVD risk were found. However, INSIG2 has been associated with obesity and peripheral arterial disease. Peripheral arterial disease and CVD are both results of the atherosclerotic process (Engelking et al., 2005). Based on results from previous studies and the present study, a high plasma SFA/PUFA ratio may increase the expression of INSIG2, which is associated with obesity and peripheral disease, and potentially increased CVD risk.

Results in the present study indicate that a high plasma SFA/PUFA ratio may regulate expression of genes associated with reduced CVD risk (CPT1A), increased CVD risk (FABP5, SOAT1) and genes potentially associated with increased CVD risk, but where the link has not yet been fully established (CRAT, ACOT1, PLIN5, INSIG2). (Bouchard-Mercier et al., 2014; Daugherty et al., 2005; Hertzel & Bernlohr, 2000) (Figure 11).

#### 5.1.3 Differences in plasma FA level and ratio across subjects and reference groups

In the present study, the mean plasma n-6/n-3 ratio for the whole study population was 6.6. This is in accordance with a similar study investigating plasma FA ratios and blood gene expression in Norwegian women, where the mean plasma n-6/n-3 ratio was 6.1 (Olsen et al., 2013). According to NNR 2004 the n-6/n-3 ratio in the Norwegian population was estimated 5.5, and considered healthy (NCM, 2004). A typical western diet is estimated to be between 15/1 and 20/1, and is associated with increased CVD risk (Hibbeln, Nieminen, Blasbalg, Riggs, & Lands, 2006; A. Simopoulos, 2006; Wall et al., 2010). The plasma n-6/n-3 ratio in the present study may be due to the use of healthy subjects with a normal diet.

Subjects with a high plasma n-6/n-3 ratio had a mean ratio of 10.5, whereas subjects with low plasma n-6/n-3 had a mean ratio of 3.6. Subjects with a high plasma SFA/PUFA ratio had a mean ratio of 0.9, whereas subjects with high SFA/PUFA ratio had a mean ratio of 0.6. Although the differences between subjects in high and low plasma SFA/PUFA ratio were small compared to the n-6/n-3 ratio, most of the significant findings in the present study were related to the plasma SFA/PUFA ratio. This indicates that small changes in the ratio of SFA to PUFA may have significant biological impact.

Furthermore, TAG level was significant higher in subjects with high SFA/PUFA ratio compared to subjects with low SFA/PUFA ratio. This is however not surprising, as high SFA intake is shown to increase plasma TAG levels (Frayn, 2010; Lottenberg et al., 2012). The oleic acid level was higher in subjects with high compared to low plasma n-6/n-3 and SFA/PUFA ratio and lower in subjects with high compared to low plasma n-3 levels. These differences indicate that other plasma FAs, such as oleic acid may have affected the results, and that the results do not necessarily relate only to plasma n-3 level, n-6/n-3 and SFA/PUFA ratios.

## 5.2 Discussion of methods

#### 5.2.1 Study design and subjects

The data used in the present study was from an RCT originally designed to investigate health effects after intake of fish oil (Ottestad et al., 2012). Data after end of intervention was used in this cross-sectional study. As this is an explorative, cross-sectional study, no conclusions on causality can necessarily be drawn (Laake, Olsen, & Benestad, 2008). However, the result can be useful at identifying associations which can then be more rigorously studied using RCT and cohort studies (Mann, 2003).

A total of 54 healthy subjects were included in this follow-up study. Subjects in the present study were arranged into groups based on levels of plasma n-3, n-6/n-3 and SFA/PUFA ratio. The level of plasma n-3, n-6 FAs or SFA may vary between subjects within the group. Due to this, the study shows the relationship between the overall plasma levels or ratios and not the specific FAs. Furthermore, when using ratios it is a possibility that extremely high or low intake of plasma FAs are disguised (Harris, 2006). An example is that you can have a low intake of fish oil, but still have a decent n-6/n-3 ratio (Olsen et al., 2013).

By using healthy subjects, it is desirable to generalize to the healthy population, which is a major proportion of the overall population. The relatively large age span also increases the generalizability. However, in order to generalize to the population the sample size is of importance. In the present study, the external validity is relatively low due to strict inclusion criteria's and few participants. On the other side, because of the exploratory design, the aim is not to generalize the conclusion, but rather enlighten the topic for future research.

Fat intake in the Norwegian diet is measured as % of daily energy intake, whereas plasma FA was measured as % of total plasma fat in the current study (NCM, 2014). It is therefore not possible to directly compare plasma FA levels in the present study with the Norwegian population. However, the subjects in the present study are healthy with normal serum lipids, and their health could thus be comparable to the Norwegian population, given that the Norwegian population are healthy also. The data of FAs used to calculate the FA level and ratio groups was measured from plasma. This is a more accurate measurement method than reported energy intake, which is often used in studies investigating the exposure to different types of FAs. The human body can synthesize FAs, except from the essential FAs, which makes plasma measurements more accurate compared to reported dietary intake (Frayn,

2010). In addition, reported FA intake do not reflect interindividual differences in metabolism, genetic variations and absorption leading to differences in circulating FA concentrations (Sun, Ma, Campos, Hankinson, & Hu, 2007). Bias in form of misreporting intake is also avoided (Cantwell, 2000).

PBMCs were used as a modelling system to study expression of genes in relation to plasma FAs in the present study. The PBMCs are exposed to many of the same environmental factors as the arterial wall. They are easy available, which makes them suitable for studying gene expression (Pasterkamp & Daemen, 2008). mRNA expression of genes related to lipid metabolism is shown to be regulated by dietary factors in several studies using PBMCs as a modelling system (Boucher et al., 2000; Bouwens et al., 2010; Bouwens et al., 2009; Radler et al., 2011). A challenge when studying gene expressions is the individual variations in response to nutritional intervention. This may be due to sex, age and genotype differences (Bouwens, Afman, & Müller, 2008). These individual variations make it difficult to detect changes in gene expression, and may have prevented some findings in this study. That there were few significant results is not surprising as it is also evident that changes in gene expression induced by nutrients are relatively small compared to e.g. drugs. However, the small changes may lead to development of disease over time (Afman & Müller, 2012; Sanderson et al., 2008).

#### 5.2.2 Statistical analysis

In the present study, both parametric and nonparametric tests were used in the present study. Parametric tests are more powerful than nonparametric tests, and increase the power of the statistical analysis (Pallant, 2013). For comparisons of two groups in the test for differences of the subjects, *independent samples t-test* were performed when data were normally distributed, whereas *Mann-Whitney U test* was performed on the non-normally distributed variables. The genes were log2-transformed, considered normally distributed, and ready for use in parametric tests. *Independent samples t-test* were used in the gene expression analysis, and since this is a parametric test, the power of the analysis is higher compared to nonparametric tests (Pallant, 2013). *Spearman's Rho* was used in the correlation analyses, and since this is a nonparametric test, it has a lower statistical power compared to a parametric test. Other factors like sample size also influence the power of the tests, and the few participants weaken the power.

It was considered to do multiple regression analysis, but this was not conducted due to the small sampling size and type of study. Multiple regression can be used to tell how well a set of variables is able to predict an outcome, in addition to control for additional variables when examining the predictive ability of the individual subscale (Pallant, 2013). It is therefore not possible to rule out that confounding variables has affected the results in the current study. Confounding is when outsider variables correlates with both the independent and dependent variable in the statistical test (Laake et al., 2008).

The variables are not independent, which makes it difficult to correct for multiple testing. Multiple testing is any instance where several tests are conducted at once. When decision about an individual hypothesis are based on an unadjusted p-value, there is a chance that some of the null hypothesis will be rejected (Romano & Wolf, 2007; Veazie, 2006). When testing 43 genes and nine are significantly different regulated, two of them will be false positive. It would be possible to adjust the statistical confidence measures by using e.g. the Bonferroni adjustment, which considers the number of tests performed (Noble, 2009). However, the Bonferroni-adjustment is conservative and may diminish power by setting strict significance levels (Veazie, 2006). Since this is an explorative study, it was preferred get some false positive rather than to reject them.

## 6 Conclusion

The results in the present study indicates that plasma FA level and ratios may modulate gene expressions and thereby influence the CVD risk. A lower expression level of CETP was found in subjects with high plasma n-3 level and low n-6/n-3 ratio. Inhibition of this gene has been suggested in research to reduce CVD incidents. Subjects with a high plasma n-6/n-3 ratio had increased expression of PPARG, which is associated with reduced CVD risk. A high SFA/PUFA ratio modulated the expression of several genes associated with increased CVD risk, such as ACOT1, PLIN5, SOAT1 and FABP. Larger studies are however warranted to further establish the relationship and causality between plasma FAs and expression of genes related to lipid metabolism and CVD risk.

## 7 Literature

- Afman, L. A., & Müller, M. (2012). Human nutrigenomics of gene regulation by dietary fatty acids. *Progress in lipid research*, *51*(1), 63-70.
- Antalis, C. J., Arnold, T., Lee, B., Buhman, K. K., & Siddiqui, R. A. (2009). Docosahexaenoic acid is a substrate for ACAT1 and inhibits cholesteryl ester formation from oleic acid in MCF-10A cells. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids, 80*(2), 165-171.
- Arterburn, L. M., Hall, E. B., & Oken, H. (2006). Distribution, interconversion, and dose response of n- 3 fatty acids in humans. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 83(6), S1467-1476S.
- Barter, P. (2000). CETP and atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 20*(9), 2029-2031.
- Barter, P., Gotto, A. M., LaRosa, J. C., Maroni, J., Szarek, M., Grundy, S. M., . . . Fruchart, J.-C. (2007). HDL cholesterol, very low levels of LDL cholesterol, and cardiovascular events. *New England journal of medicine*, *357*(13), 1301-1310.
- Barter, P. J., Caulfield, M., Eriksson, M., Grundy, S. M., Kastelein, J. J., Komajda, M., . . . Waters, D. D. (2007). Effects of torcetrapib in patients at high risk for coronary events. *New England journal of medicine*, *357*(21), 2109-2122.
- Berneis, K. K., & Krauss, R. M. (2002). Metabolic origins and clinical significance of LDL heterogeneity. *Journal of lipid research*, 43(9), 1363-1379.
- Bindesbøll, C., Berg, O., Arntsen, B., Nebb, H. I., & Dalen, K. T. (2013). Fatty acids regulate perilipin5 in muscle by activating PPARδ. *Journal of lipid research*, 54(7), 1949-1963.
- Bligh, E. G., & Dyer, W. J. (1959). A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification. *Canadian journal of biochemistry and physiology*, *37*(8), 911-917.
- Bouchard-Mercier, A., Rudkowska, I., Lemieux, S., Couture, P., & Vohl, M.-C. (2014). Polymorphisms in genes involved in fatty acid  $\beta$ -oxidation interact with dietary fat intakes to modulate the plasma TG response to a fish oil supplementation. *Nutrients*, 6(3), 1145-1163.
- Boucher, P., Seree, E., Vidon, C., de Souza, A. C., Villard, P. H., Chambon, R., . . . Vallon, J. J. (2000). Dietary lipids affect human ethanol-inducible CYP2E1 gene expression in vivo in mononuclear cells. *Life sciences*, 67(11), 1307-1316.
- Bouwens, M., Afman, L. A., & Müller, M. (2008). Activation of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor alpha in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells reveals an individual gene expression profile response. *BMC genomics*, 9(1), 262.
- Bouwens, M., Bromhaar, M. G., Jansen, J., Müller, M., & Afman, L. A. (2010). Postprandial dietary lipid–specific effects on human peripheral blood mononuclear cell gene expression profiles. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 91(1), 208-217.
- Bouwens, M., van de Rest, O., Dellschaft, N., Bromhaar, M. G., de Groot, L. C., Geleijnse, J. M., . . . Afman, L. A. (2009). Fish-oil supplementation induces antiinflammatory gene expression profiles in human blood mononuclear cells. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 90(2), 415-424.
- Brocker, C., Carpenter, C., Nebert, D. W., & Vasiliou, V. (2010). Evolutionary divergence and functions of the human acyl-CoA thioesterase gene (ACOT) family. *Human genomics*, 4(6), 1.
- Brown, M. S., & Goldstein, J. L. (1997). The SREBP pathway: regulation of cholesterol metabolism by proteolysis of a membrane-bound transcription factor. *Cell*, 89(3), 331-340.

- Calder, P. C. (2002). Dietary modification of inflammation with lipids. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, *61*(03), 345-358.
- Calder, P. C. (2012). Mechanisms of action of (n-3) fatty acids. *The Journal of nutrition*, 142(3), 592S-599S.
- Cannon, C. P., Shah, S., Dansky, H. M., Davidson, M., Brinton, E. A., Gotto Jr, A. M., . . . Ashraf, T. B. (2010). Safety of anacetrapib in patients with or at high risk for coronary heart disease. *New England journal of medicine*, *363*(25), 2406-2415.
- Cantwell, M. M. (2000). Assessment of individual fatty acid intake. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 59*(02), 187-191.
- Castelli, W. (1988). Cholesterol and lipids in the risk of coronary artery disease--the Framingham Heart Study. *The Canadian journal of cardiology, 4*, 5A-10A.
- Chambrier, C., Bastard, J. P., Rieusset, J., Chevillotte, E., Bonnefont-Rousselot, D., Therond, P., . . . Vidal, H. (2002). Eicosapentaenoic Acid Induces mRNA Expression of Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor γ. *Obesity research*, 10(6), 518-525.
- Champe, P. C., Harvey, R. A., & Ferrier, D. R. (2008). *Biochemistry* (4th ed.). Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Chang, T.-Y., Li, B.-L., Chang, C. C., & Urano, Y. (2009). Acyl-coenzyme A: cholesterol acyltransferases. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 297(1), E1-E9.
- Chapman, M. J., Le Goff, W., Guerin, M., & Kontush, A. (2010). Cholesteryl ester transfer protein: at the heart of the action of lipid-modulating therapy with statins, fibrates, niacin, and cholesteryl ester transfer protein inhibitors. *European heart journal*, 31(2), 149-164.
- Charles, M. A., & Kane, J. P. (2012). New molecular insights into CETP structure and function: a review. *Journal of lipid research*, *53*(8), 1451-1458.
- Chawla, A., Boisvert, W. A., Lee, C.-H., Laffitte, B. A., Barak, Y., Joseph, S. B., . . . Curtiss, L. K. (2001). A PPARγ-LXR-ABCA1 pathway in macrophages is involved in cholesterol efflux and atherogenesis. *Molecular cell*, 7(1), 161-171.
- Chowdhury, R., Warnakula, S., Kunutsor, S., Crowe, F., Ward, H. A., Johnson, L., . . . Thompson, S. G. (2014). Association of dietary, circulating, and supplement fatty acids with coronary risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Annals of internal medicine*, *160*(6), 398-406.
- Clark, R. W. (2006). Raising high-density lipoprotein with cholesteryl ester transfer protein inhibitors. *Current opinion in pharmacology*, 6(2), 162-168.
- Clark, R. W., Ruggeri, R. B., Cunningham, D., & Bamberger, M. J. (2006). Description of the torcetrapib series of cholesteryl ester transfer protein inhibitors, including mechanism of action. *Journal of lipid research*, 47(3), 537-552.
- Clark, R. W., Sutfin, T. A., Ruggeri, R. B., Willauer, A. T., Sugarman, E. D., Magnus-Aryitey, G., . . . Williams, J. A. (2004). Raising High-Density Lipoprotein in Humans Through Inhibition of Cholesteryl Ester Transfer Protein An Initial Multidose Study of Torcetrapib. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*, 24(3), 490-497.
- Cole, M. A., Murray, A. J., Cochlin, L. E., Heather, L. C., McAleese, S., Knight, N. S., ... Clarke, K. (2011). A high fat diet increases mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation and uncoupling to decrease efficiency in rat heart. *Basic research in cardiology*, *106*(3), 447-457.
- Cortese, C., Levy, Y., Janus, E., Turner, P., Rao, S., Miller, N., & Lewis, B. (1983). Modes of action of lipid-lowering diets in man: studies of apolipoprotein B kinetics in relation to fat consumption and dietary fatty acid composition. *European journal of clinical investigation*, 13(1), 79-85.

- Daugherty, A., Webb, N. R., Rateri, D. L., & King, V. L. (2005). Thematic review series: The immune system and atherogenesis. Cytokine regulation of macrophage functions in atherogenesis. *Journal of lipid research*, 46(9), 1812-1822.
- de Souza, R. J., Mente, A., Maroleanu, A., Cozma, A. I., Ha, V., Kishibe, T., . . . Beyene, J. (2015). Intake of saturated and trans unsaturated fatty acids and risk of all cause mortality, cardiovascular disease, and type 2 diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies.
- Deckelbaum, R. J. (2010). n-6 and n-3 Fatty Acids and Atherosclerosis Ratios or Amounts? *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 30*(12), 2325-2326.
- Desvergne, B., Michalik, L., & Wahli, W. (2006). Transcriptional regulation of metabolism. *Physiological reviews*, 86(2), 465-514.
- Dongol, B., Shah, Y., Kim, I., Gonzalez, F. J., & Hunt, M. C. (2007). The acyl-CoA thioesterase I is regulated by PPARα and HNF4α via a distal response element in the promoter. *Journal of lipid research*, *48*(8), 1781-1791.
- Dreon, D. M., Fernstrom, H. A., Campos, H., Blanche, P., Williams, P. T., & Krauss, R. M. (1998). Change in dietary saturated fat intake is correlated with change in mass of large low-density-lipoprotein particles in men. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 67(5), 828-836.
- Durgan, D. J., Smith, J. K., Hotze, M. A., Egbejimi, O., Cuthbert, K. D., Zaha, V. G., ... Young, M. E. (2006). Distinct transcriptional regulation of long-chain acyl-CoA synthetase isoforms and cytosolic thioesterase 1 in the rodent heart by fatty acids and insulin. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 290(6), H2480-H2497.
- Duval, C., Chinetti, G., Trottein, F., Fruchart, J.-C., & Staels, B. (2002). The role of PPARs in atherosclerosis. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, 8(9), 422-430. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1471-4914(02)02385-7
- Engelking, L. J., Kuriyama, H., Hammer, R. E., Horton, J. D., Brown, M. S., Goldstein, J. L., & Liang, G. (2004). Overexpression of Insig-1 in the livers of transgenic mice inhibits SREBP processing and reduces insulin-stimulated lipogenesis. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 113(8), 1168-1175.
- Engelking, L. J., Liang, G., Hammer, R. E., Takaishi, K., Kuriyama, H., Evers, B. M., ... Brown, M. S. (2005). Schoenheimer effect explained–feedback regulation of cholesterol synthesis in mice mediated by Insig proteins. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 115(9), 2489-2498.
- Epstein, F. H., & Ross, R. (1999). Atherosclerosis—an inflammatory disease. *New England journal of medicine*, 340(2), 115-126.
- Ford, E. S., Zhao, G., & Li, C. (2010). Pre-diabetes and the risk for cardiovascular disease: a systematic review of the evidence. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 55(13), 1310-1317.
- Frayn, K. N. (2010). *Metabolic regulation : a human perspective* (3th ed.). Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Fujita, M., Momose, A., Ohtomo, T., Nishinosono, A., Tanonaka, K., Toyoda, H., . . . Yamada, J. (2011). Upregulation of fatty acyl-CoA thioesterases in the heart and skeletal muscle of rats fed a high-fat diet. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 34(1), 87-91.
- Fukumitsu, S., Villareal, M. O., Onaga, S., Aida, K., Han, J., & Isoda, H. (2013). α-Linolenic acid suppresses cholesterol and triacylglycerol biosynthesis pathway by suppressing SREBP-2, SREBP-1a and-1c expression. *Cytotechnology*, *65*(6), 899-907.
- Furukawa, K., Hori, M., Ouchi, N., Kihara, S., Funahashi, T., Matsuzawa, Y., . . . Horiuchi, S. (2004). Adiponectin down-regulates acyl-coenzyme A: cholesterol acyltransferase-1

in cultured human monocyte-derived macrophages. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 317(3), 831-836.

- Go, A. S., Mozaffarian, D., Roger, V. L., Benjamin, E. J., Berry, J. D., Blaha, M. J., . . . Franco, S. (2014). Heart disease and stroke statistics--2014 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 129(3), e28.
- Griffin, B. A. (2008). How relevant is the ratio of dietary n-6 to n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids to cardiovascular disease risk? Evidence from the OPTILIP study. *Current opinion in lipidology*, *19*(1), 57-62.
- Harris, W. S. (2006). The omega-6/omega-3 ratio and cardiovascular disease risk: uses and abuses. *Current atherosclerosis reports*, 8(6), 453-459.
- Hermanson, O., Glass, C. K., & Rosenfeld, M. G. (2002). Nuclear receptor coregulators: multiple modes of modification. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 13(2), 55-60. doi:10.1016/S1043-2760(01)00527-6
- Hertzel, A. V., & Bernlohr, D. A. (2000). The mammalian fatty acid-binding protein multigene family: molecular and genetic insights into function. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 11(5), 175-180.
- Hibbeln, J. R., Nieminen, L. R., Blasbalg, T. L., Riggs, J. A., & Lands, W. E. (2006). Healthy intakes of n-3 and n-6 fatty acids: estimations considering worldwide diversity. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 83(6), S1483-1493S.
- Hirano, R., Igarashi, O., Kondo, K., Itakura, H., & Matsumoto, A. (2001). Regulation by long-chain fatty acids of the expression of cholesteryl ester transfer protein in HepG2 cells. *Lipids*, *36*(4), 401-406.
- Hohoff, C., Börchers, T., Rüstow, B., Spener, F., & van Tilbeurgh, H. (1999). Expression, purification, and crystal structure determination of recombinant human epidermal-type fatty acid binding protein. *Biochemistry*, *38*(38), 12229-12239.
- Hong, J., Gu, W., Zhang, Y., Yan, Q., Dai, M., Shi, J., ... Ning, G. (2011). Different association of circulating levels of adipocyte and epidermal fatty acid-binding proteins with metabolic syndrome and coronary atherosclerosis in Chinese adults. *Atherosclerosis*, 217(1), 194-200.
- Hooper, L., Abdelhamid, A., Moore, H. J., Douthwaite, W., Skeaff, C. M., & Summerbell, C. D. (2012). Effect of reducing total fat intake on body weight: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials and cohort studies. *Bmj*, 345, e7666.
- Horton, J. D., Goldstein, J. L., & Brown, M. S. (2002). SREBPs: activators of the complete program of cholesterol and fatty acid synthesis in the liver. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *109*(9), 1125-1132.
- Huang, C.-H., Hou, Y.-C., Yeh, C.-L., & Yeh, S.-L. (2015). A soybean and fish oil mixture with different n-6/n-3 PUFA ratios modulates the inflammatory reaction in mice with dextran sulfate sodium-induced acute colitis. *Clinical Nutrition*, *34*(5), 1018-1024.
- Hunt, M. C., Solaas, K., Kase, B. F., & Alexson, S. E. (2002). Characterization of an acyl-CoA thioesterase that functions as a major regulator of peroxisomal lipid metabolism. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(2), 1128-1138.
- Im, S.-S., & Osborne, T. F. (2011). Liver x receptors in atherosclerosis and inflammation. *Circulation research*, 108(8), 996-1001.
- Jakobsen, M. U., O'Reilly, E. J., Heitmann, B. L., Pereira, M. A., Bälter, K., Fraser, G. E., . . . Liu, S. (2009). Major types of dietary fat and risk of coronary heart disease: a pooled analysis of 11 cohort studies. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 89(5), 1425-1432.
- Joseph, S. B., Castrillo, A., Laffitte, B. A., Mangelsdorf, D. J., & Tontonoz, P. (2003). Reciprocal regulation of inflammation and lipid metabolism by liver X receptors. *Nature medicine*, 9(2), 213-219.

- Joseph, S. B., McKilligin, E., Pei, L., Watson, M. A., Collins, A. R., Laffitte, B. A., . . . Hagger, G. N. (2002). Synthetic LXR ligand inhibits the development of atherosclerosis in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99(11), 7604-7609.
- Jump, D. B. (2002a). The biochemistry of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(11), 8755-8758.
- Jump, D. B. (2002b). Dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids and regulation of gene transcription. *Current opinion in lipidology, 13*(2), 155-164.
- Jump, D. B. (2004). Fatty acid regulation of gene transcription. *Critical reviews in clinical laboratory sciences*, *41*(1), 41-78.
- Jump, D. B. (2008). N-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid regulation of hepatic gene transcription. *Current opinion in lipidology, 19*(3), 242.
- Jump, D. B., Tripathy, S., & Depner, C. M. (2013). Fatty acid–regulated transcription factors in the liver. *Annual review of nutrition*, *33*, 249.
- Kalbak, K. (1972). Incidence of arteriosclerosis in patients with rheumatoid arthritis receiving long-term corticosteroid therapy. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases, 31*(3), 196.
- Kawakami, Y., Yamanaka-Okumura, H., Naniwa-Kuroki, Y., Sakuma, M., Taketani, Y., & Takeda, E. (2015). Flaxseed oil intake reduces serum small dense low-density lipoprotein concentrations in Japanese men: a randomized, double blind, crossover study. *Nutrition journal*, 14(1), 1.
- Keys, A. (1980). Seven countries. A multivariate analysis of death and coronary heart disease: Harvard University Press.
- Kimmel, A. R., & Sztalryd, C. (2014). Perilipin 5, a lipid droplet protein adapted to mitochondrial energy utilization. *Current opinion in lipidology*, 25(2), 110.
- Kosmas, C. E., Christodoulidis, G., Cheng, J.-w., Lerakis, S., & Vittorio, T. J. (2014). Highdensity lipoprotein functionality in coronary artery disease. *The American journal of the medical sciences*, 347(6), 504-508.
- Kosmas, C. E., DeJesus, E., Rosario, D., & Vittorio, T. J. (2016). CETP Inhibition: Past Failures and Future Hopes. *Clinical Medicine Insights. Cardiology*, *10*, 37.
- Laake, P., Olsen, B. R., & Benestad, H. B. (2008). *Forskning i medisin og biofag* (2th ed. ed.). Oslo: Gyldendal Norsk Forlag AS.
- Lemas, D. J., Wiener, H. W., O'Brien, D. M., Hopkins, S., Stanhope, K. L., Havel, P. J., . . . Boyer, B. B. (2012). Genetic polymorphisms in carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1A gene are associated with variation in body composition and fasting lipid traits in Yup'ik Eskimos. *Journal of lipid research*, *53*(1), 175-184.
- Li, Y., YANG, J. B., Jia, C., YU, G. Y., Pei, Z., Lei, L., . . . CHANG, T. Y. (2004). Enhancement of human ACAT1 gene expression to promote the macrophage-derived foam cell formation by dexamethasone. *Cell research*, *14*(4), 315-323.
- Lottenberg, A. M., da Silva Afonso, M., Lavrador, M. S. F., Machado, R. M., & Nakandakare, E. R. (2012). The role of dietary fatty acids in the pathology of metabolic syndrome. *The Journal of nutritional biochemistry*, *23*(9), 1027-1040.
- Lucas, M. (2015). Letter by Lucas Regarding Articles, "Dietary Linoleic Acid and Risk of Coronary Heart Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Prospective Cohort Studies" and "Circulating Omega-6 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids and Total and Cause-Specific Mortality: The Cardiovascular Health Study". *Circulation*, 132(3), e21-e21.
- Mak, P. A., Laffitte, B. A., Desrumaux, C., Joseph, S. B., Curtiss, L. K., Mangelsdorf, D. J., . . . Edwards, P. A. (2002). Regulated Expression of the Apolipoprotein E/CI/C-IV/C-II Gene Cluster in Murine and Human Macrophages A CRITICAL ROLE FOR

NUCLEAR LIVER X RECEPTORS α AND β. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(35), 31900-31908.

- Makowski, L., & Hotamisligil, G. S. (2004). Fatty acid binding proteins—the evolutionary crossroads of inflammatory and metabolic responses. *The Journal of nutrition*, 134(9), 2464S-2468S.
- Mandard, S., Müller, M., & Kersten, S. (2004). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor α target genes. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences CMLS*, *61*(4), 393-416.
- Mann, C. (2003). Observational research methods. Research design II: cohort, cross sectional, and case-control studies. *Emergency Medicine Journal*, 20(1), 54-60.
- Marotti, K. R., Castle, C. K., Boyle, T. P., Lin, A. H., Murray, R. W., & Melchior, G. W. (1993). Severe atherosclerosis in transgenic mice expressing simian cholesteryl ester transfer protein. *Nature*, *364*(6432), 73-75.
- Mason, R. R., & Watt, M. J. (2015). Unraveling the roles of PLIN5: linking cell biology to physiology. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 26(3), 144-152.
- McGarry, J., Sen, A., Esser, V., Woeltje, K., Weis, B., & Foster, D. (1991). New insights into the mitochondrial carnitine palmitoyltransferase enzyme system. *Biochimie*, *73*(1), 77-84.
- Mensink, R. P., & Katan, M. B. (1992). Effect of dietary fatty acids on serum lipids and lipoproteins. A meta-analysis of 27 trials. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 12*(8), 911-919.
- Mensink, R. P., Zock, P. L., Kester, A. D., & Katan, M. B. (2003). Effects of dietary fatty acids and carbohydrates on the ratio of serum total to HDL cholesterol and on serum lipids and apolipoproteins: a meta-analysis of 60 controlled trials. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 77(5), 1146-1155.
- Michas, G., Micha, R., & Zampelas, A. (2014). Dietary fats and cardiovascular disease: Putting together the pieces of a complicated puzzle. *Atherosclerosis*, 234(2), 320-328.
- Millen, B. E., Wolongevicz, D. M., de Jesus, J. M., Nonas, C. A., & Lichtenstein, A. H. (2014). 2013 American Heart Association/American College of Cardiology Guideline on Lifestyle Management to Reduce Cardiovascular Risk: Practice Opportunities for Registered Dietitian Nutritionists. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, 114(11), 1723-1729.
- Mitchell, G. A., Gauthier, N., Lesimple, A., Wang, S. P., Mamer, O., & Qureshi, I. (2008). Hereditary and acquired diseases of acyl-coenzyme A metabolism. *Molecular genetics and metabolism*, 94(1), 4-15.
- Miyares, M. A., & Davis, K. (2012). Patient considerations and clinical impact of cholesteryl ester transfer protein inhibitors in the management of dyslipidemia: focus on anacetrapib. *Vascular health and risk management*, *8*, 483.
- Mozaffarian, D., Micha, R., & Wallace, S. (2010). Effects on coronary heart disease of increasing polyunsaturated fat in place of saturated fat: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *PLoS Med*, 7(3), e1000252.
- Mozaffarian, D., Rimm, E. B., & Herrington, D. M. (2004). Dietary fats, carbohydrate, and progression of coronary atherosclerosis in postmenopausal women. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 80(5), 1175-1184.
- Myhrstad, M. C., Ulven, S. M., Günther, C. C., Ottestad, I., Holden, M., Ryeng, E., . . . Thoresen, M. (2014). Fish oil supplementation induces expression of genes related to cell cycle, endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis in peripheral blood mononuclear cells: a transcriptomic approach. *Journal of internal medicine*, 276(5), 498-511.
- Nabel, E. G., & Braunwald, E. (2012). A tale of coronary artery disease and myocardial infarction. *New England journal of medicine*, *366*(1), 54-63.

- Nordic Council of Ministers. (2004) Nordic nutrition recommendations: NNR 2004 : integrating nutrition and physical activity. Copenhagen: Nordic Council of Ministers.
- Nordic council of ministers. (2014). Nordic Nutrition Recommendations 2012. . Copenhagen: Nordic Council of Ministers.
- Nguyen, P., Leray, V., Diez, M., Serisier, S., Bloc'h, J. L., Siliart, B., & Dumon, H. (2008). Liver lipid metabolism. *Journal of animal physiology and animal nutrition*, 92(3), 272-283.
- Noble, W. S. (2009). How does multiple testing correction work? *Nature biotechnology*, 27(12), 1135-1137.
- Norwegian Institute of Public Health. (2014). *Public Health Report 2014*. Retrieved from http://www.fhi.no/eway/default.aspx?pid=239&trg=Content\_7242&Main\_6157=7239 :0:25,8904&MainContent\_7239=7242:0:25,8906&Content\_7242=7244:110411::0:72 43:2:::0:0
- Olsen, K. S., Fenton, C., Frøyland, L., Waaseth, M., Paulssen, R. H., & Lund, E. (2013). Plasma Fatty Acid ratios affect blood gene expression profiles–a cross-sectional study of the norwegian women and cancer post-genome cohort. *PloS one*, 8(6).
- Ooi, E. M., Lichtenstein, A. H., Millar, J. S., Diffenderfer, M. R., Lamon-Fava, S., Rasmussen, H., . . . Schaefer, E. J. (2012). Effects of therapeutic lifestyle change diets high and low in dietary fish-derived FAs on lipoprotein metabolism in middle-aged and elderly subjects. *Journal of lipid research*, 53(9), 1958-1967.
- Ottestad, I., Vogt, G., Retterstøl, K., Myhrstad, M. C., Haugen, J.-E., Nilsson, A., . . . Andersen, L. F. (2012). Oxidised fish oil does not influence established markers of oxidative stress in healthy human subjects: a randomised controlled trial. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 108(02), 315-326.
- Ou, J., Tu, H., Shan, B., Luk, A., DeBose-Boyd, R. A., Bashmakov, Y., . . . Brown, M. S. (2001). Unsaturated fatty acids inhibit transcription of the sterol regulatory elementbinding protein-1c (SREBP-1c) gene by antagonizing ligand-dependent activation of the LXR. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 98(11), 6027-6032. doi:10.1073/pnas.111138698
- Pallant, J. (2013). SPSS survival manual (5th ed.). Maidenhead: Open University Press.
- Parekh, S., & Anania, F. A. (2007). Abnormal lipid and glucose metabolism in obesity: implications for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gastroenterology*, *132*(6), 2191-2207.
- Pasterkamp, G., & Daemen, M. (2008). Circulating cells: the biofactory for markers of atherosclerotic disease. *European heart journal*, 29(22), 2701-2702.
- Pawar, A., Xu, J., Jerks, E., Mangelsdorf, D. J., & Jump, D. B. (2002). Fatty acid regulation of liver X receptors (LXR) and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor α (PPARα) in HEK293 cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(42), 39243-39250.
- Perk, J., De Backer, G., Gohlke, H., Graham, I., Reiner, Ž., Verschuren, M., . . . Cifkova, R. (2012). European Guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice (version 2012). European heart journal, 33(13), 1635-1701.
- Plump, A. S., Masucci-Magoulas, L., Bruce, C., Bisgaier, C. L., Breslow, J. L., & Tall, A. R. (1999). Increased atherosclerosis in ApoE and LDL receptor gene knock-out mice as a result of human cholesteryl ester transfer protein transgene expression. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 19*(4), 1105-1110.
- Popeijus, H. E., van Otterdijk, S. D., van der Krieken, S. E., Konings, M., Serbonij, K., Plat, J., & Mensink, R. P. (2014). Fatty acid chain length and saturation influences PPARα transcriptional activation and repression in HepG2 cells. *Molecular nutrition & food research*, 58(12), 2342-2349.

- Radhakrishnan, A., Ikeda, Y., Kwon, H. J., Brown, M. S., & Goldstein, J. L. (2007). Sterolregulated transport of SREBPs from endoplasmic reticulum to Golgi: oxysterols block transport by binding to Insig. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(16), 6511-6518.
- Radler, U., Stangl, H., Lechner, S., Lienbacher, G., Krepp, R., Zeller, E., . . . Anzur, C. (2011). A Combination of (ω–3) Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids, Polyphenols and L-Carnitine Reduces the Plasma Lipid Levels and Increases the Expression of Genes Involved in Fatty Acid Oxidation in Human Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells and HepG2 Cells. *Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism*, *58*(2), 133-140.
- Rajakumar, C., Ban, M. R., Cao, H., Young, T. K., Bjerregaard, P., & Hegele, R. A. (2009). Carnitine palmitoyltransferase IA polymorphism P479L is common in Greenland Inuit and is associated with elevated plasma apolipoprotein AI. *Journal of lipid research*, 50(6), 1223-1228.
- Rakhshandehroo, M., Knoch, B., Müller, M., & Kersten, S. (2010). Peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor alpha target genes. *PPAR research*, 2010.
- Repa, J. J., Berge, K. E., Pomajzl, C., Richardson, J. A., Hobbs, H., & Mangelsdorf, D. J. (2002). Regulation of ATP-binding cassette sterol transporters ABCG5 and ABCG8 by the liver X receptors α and β. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(21), 18793-18800.
- Repa, J. J., Turley, S. D., Lobaccaro, J. M. A., Medina, J., Li, L., Lustig, K., . . . Mangelsdorf, D. J. (2000). Regulation of Absorption and ABC1-Mediated Efflux of Cholesterol by RXR Heterodimers. *Science*, 289(5484), 1524-1529.
- Ricote, M., Valledor, A. F., & Glass, C. K. (2004). Decoding Transcriptional Programs Regulated by PPARs and LXRs in the Macrophage Effects on Lipid Homeostasis, Inflammation, and Atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*, 24(2), 230-239.
- Ristić, V., & Ristić, G. (2002). [Role and importance of dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids in the prevention and therapy of atherosclerosis]. *Medicinski pregled*, *56*(1-2), 50-53.
- Romano, J. P., & Wolf, M. (2007). Control of generalized error rates in multiple testing. *The Annals of Statistics*, 1378-1408.
- Russo, G. L. (2009). Dietary n– 6 and n– 3 polyunsaturated fatty acids: from biochemistry to clinical implications in cardiovascular prevention. *Biochemical pharmacology*, 77(6), 937-946.
- Rye, K.-A., Clay, M. A., & Barter, P. J. (1999). Remodelling of high density lipoproteins by plasma factors. *Atherosclerosis*, 145(2), 227-238.
- Sanderson, L. M., de Groot, P. J., Hooiveld, G., Koppen, A., Kalkhoven, E., Muller, M., & Kersten, S. (2008). Effect of synthetic dietary triglycerides: a novel research paradigm for nutrigenomics. *PloS one*, *3*(2), e1681.
- Satoh, N., Shimatsu, A., Kotani, K., Sakane, N., Yamada, K., Suganami, T., ... Ogawa, Y. (2007). Purified eicosapentaenoic acid reduces small dense LDL, remnant lipoprotein particles, and C-reactive protein in metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes care*, 30(1), 144-146.
- Schaefer, E. J. (2002). Lipoproteins, nutrition, and heart disease. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 75(2), 191-212.
- Schmidt, S., Willers, J., Stahl, F., Mutz, K.-O., Scheper, T., Hahn, A., & Schuchardt, J. P. (2012). Regulation of lipid metabolism-related gene expression in whole blood cells of normo-and dyslipidemic men after fish oil supplementation. *Lipids Health Dis*, 11(172), 10.1186.
- Schmitz, G., & Ecker, J. (2008). The opposing effects of n-3 and n-6 fatty acids. *Progress in lipid research*, 47(2), 147-155. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2007.12.004

- Schnabel, R., & Blankenberg, S. (2007). Oxidative stress in cardiovascular disease successful translation from bench to bedside? *Circulation*, *116*(12), 1338-1340.
- Seiler, S. E., Martin, O. J., Noland, R. C., Slentz, D. H., DeBalsi, K. L., Ilkayeva, O. R., . . . Muoio, D. M. (2014). Obesity and lipid stress inhibit carnitine acetyltransferase activity. *Journal of lipid research*, 55(4), 635-644.
- Seo, T., Blaner, W. S., & Deckelbaum, R. J. (2005). Omega-3 fatty acids: molecular approaches to optimal biological outcomes. *Current opinion in lipidology*, 16(1), 11-18.
- Sever, N., Song, B.-L., Yabe, D., Goldstein, J. L., Brown, M. S., & DeBose-Boyd, R. A. (2003). Insig-dependent ubiquitination and degradation of mammalian 3-hydroxy-3methylglutaryl-CoA reductase stimulated by sterols and geranylgeraniol. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(52), 52479-52490.
- Shepherd, J., Packard, C. J., Grundy, S. M., Yeshurun, D., Gotto, A., & Taunton, O. (1980).
  Effects of saturated and polyunsaturated fat diets on the chemical composition and metabolism of low density lipoproteins in man. *Journal of lipid research*, 21(1), 91-99.
- Simopoulos, A. (2006). Evolutionary aspects of diet, the omega-6/omega-3 ratio and genetic variation: nutritional implications for chronic diseases. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, *60*(9), 502-507.
- Simopoulos, A. P. (1991). Omega-3 fatty acids in health and disease and in growth and development. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, *54*(3), 438-463.
- Simopoulos, A. P. (2001). Evolutionary aspects of diet, essential fatty acids and cardiovascular disease. *European Heart Journal Supplements, 3*(suppl D), D8-D21.
- Siri-Tarino, P. W., Sun, Q., Hu, F. B., & Krauss, R. M. (2010). Meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies evaluating the association of saturated fat with cardiovascular disease. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, ajcn. 27725.
- Skeaff, C. M., & Miller, J. (2009). Dietary fat and coronary heart disease: summary of evidence from prospective cohort and randomised controlled trials. *Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism, 55*(1-3), 173-201.
- Smaoui, M., Hammami, S., Attia, N., Chaaba, R., Abid, N., Kilani, N., . . . Hammami, M. (2006). Modulation of plasma cholesteryl ester transfer protein activity by unsaturated fatty acids in Tunisian type 2 diabetic women. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases, 16*(1), 44-53.
- Soni, S. P., LoCascio, D. S., Liu, Y., Williams, J. A., Bittman, R., Stillwell, W., & Wassall, S. R. (2008). Docosahexaenoic acid enhances segregation of lipids between raft and nonraft domains: 2 H-NMR study. *Biophysical journal*, 95(1), 203-214.
- Stahl, A., Gimeno, R. E., Tartaglia, L. A., & Lodish, H. F. (2001). Fatty acid transport proteins: a current view of a growing family. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 12(6), 266-273.
- Stanner, S. (2008). Cardiovascular Disease: Diet, Nutrition and Emerging Risk Factors (The Report of the British Nutrition Foundation Task Force): John Wiley & Sons.
- Storch, J., & Thumser, A. E. (2010). Tissue-specific functions in the fatty acid-binding protein family. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(43), 32679-32683.
- Sun, Q., Ma, J., Campos, H., Hankinson, S. E., & Hu, F. B. (2007). Comparison between plasma and erythrocyte fatty acid content as biomarkers of fatty acid intake in US women. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 86(1), 74-81.
- Tangirala, R. K., Bischoff, E. D., Joseph, S. B., Wagner, B. L., Walczak, R., Laffitte, B. A., . . Mangelsdorf, D. J. (2002). Identification of macrophage liver X receptors as inhibitors of atherosclerosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99(18), 11896-11901.

The Norwegian Directorate of Health. (2015a). *The development in the Norwegian diet*. Retrieved from

https://helsedirektoratet.no/Lists/Publikasjoner/Attachments/1021/Utviklingen-i-norsk-kosthold-2015-IS-2382.pdf

- The Norwegian Directorate of Health. (2015b). *Nutrient Recommendations energy, carbohydrates, fat, protein, vitamins, minerals*. Retrieved from https://helsedirektoratet.no/Lists/Publikasjoner/Attachments/806/Anbefalinger-omkosthold-ernering-og-fysisk-aktivitet-IS-2170.pdf
- Tontonoz, P., & Spiegelman, B. M. (2008). Fat and beyond: the diverse biology of PPARγ. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.*, 77, 289-312.
- Turner, J. D., Le, N., & Brown, W. V. (1981). Effect of changing dietary fat saturation on low-density lipoprotein metabolism in man. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism, 241*(1), E57-E63.
- Van der Steeg, W., Kuivenhoven, J., Klerkx, A., Boekholdt, S., Hovingh, G., & Kastelein, J. (2004). Role of CETP inhibitors in the treatment of dyslipidemia. *Current opinion in lipidology*, 15(6), 631-636.
- Veazie, P. J. (2006). When to combine hypotheses and adjust for multiple tests. *Health services research*, *41*(3p1), 804-818.
- Visvikis-Siest, S., Marteau, J.-B., Samara, A., Berrahmoune, H., Marie, B., & Pfister, M. (2007). Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs): a possible model for studying cardiovascular biology systems. *Clinical Chemical Laboratory Medicine*, 45(9), 1154-1168.
- Wall, R., Ross, R. P., Fitzgerald, G. F., & Stanton, C. (2010). Fatty acids from fish: the antiinflammatory potential of long-chain omega-3 fatty acids. *Nutrition reviews*, 68(5), 280-289.
- Wang, C., Zhao, Y., Gao, X., Li, L., Yuan, Y., Liu, F., . . . Zhang, X. (2015). Perilipin 5 improves hepatic lipotoxicity by inhibiting lipolysis. *Hepatology*, *61*(3), 870-882.
- Wassall, S. R., & Stillwell, W. (2009). Polyunsaturated fatty acid–cholesterol interactions: domain formation in membranes. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes*, 1788(1), 24-32.
- WHO/FAO expert consultation. (2003). *Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases*. Retrieved from http://hoalth.guroafrica.org/books/diatputritionwho.pdf

http://health.euroafrica.org/books/dietnutritionwho.pdf

- World Health Organization. (2015a). *Cardiovascular disease (CVDs)*. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs317/en/
- World Health Organization. (2015b). Healthy diet. *Fact sheet N°394*. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/nutrition/publications/nutrientrequirements/healthydiet\_factsheet3 94.pdf?ua=1
- Xu, H. E., Lambert, M. H., Montana, V. G., Parks, D. J., Blanchard, S. G., Brown, P. J., ...
  Willson, T. M. (1999). Molecular recognition of fatty acids by peroxisome proliferator–activated receptors. *Molecular cell*, 3(3), 397-403.
- Yabe, D., Brown, M. S., & Goldstein, J. L. (2002). Insig-2, a second endoplasmic reticulum protein that binds SCAP and blocks export of sterol regulatory element-binding proteins. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99(20), 12753-12758.
- Yang, J.-B., Duan, Z.-J., Yao, W., Lee, O., Yang, L., Yang, X.-Y., . . . Li, B.-L. (2001). Synergistic Transcriptional Activation of HumanAcyl-coenzyme A: Cholesterol Acyltransterase-1 Gene by Interferon-γ and All-trans-Retinoic Acid THP-1 Cells. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 276(24), 20989-20998.
- Yeung, D. C., Wang, Y., Xu, A., Cheung, S. C., Wat, N. M., Fong, D. Y., . . . Lam, K. S. (2008). Epidermal fatty-acid-binding protein: a new circulating biomarker associated

with cardio-metabolic risk factors and carotid atherosclerosis. *European heart journal,* 29(17), 2156-2163.

- Yoshikawa, T., Shimano, H., Yahagi, N., Ide, T., Amemiya-Kudo, M., Matsuzaka, T., . . . Tamura, Y. (2002). Polyunsaturated fatty acids suppress sterol regulatory elementbinding protein 1c promoter activity by inhibition of liver X receptor (LXR) binding to LXR response elements. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(3), 1705-1711.
- Yuan, F., Wang, H., Tian, Y., Li, Q., He, L., Li, N., & Liu, Z. (2016). Fish oil alleviated highfat diet–induced non-alcoholic fatty liver disease via regulating hepatic lipids metabolism and metaflammation: a transcriptomic study. *Lipids in health and disease*, 15(1), 1.
- Yuriko, A., & Kelley, D. (2010). Mechanisms underlying the cardioprotective effects of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. Reviews: Current Topics. *Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 21, 781-792.
- Zhang, Y., & Mangelsdorf, D. J. (2002). LuXuRies of lipid homeostasis: the unity of nuclear hormone receptors, transcription regulation, and cholesterol sensing. *Molecular interventions*, 2(2), 78.
- Zhou, X., Wu, W., Chen, J., Wang, X., & Wang, Y. (2015). AMP-activated protein kinase is required for the anti-adipogenic effects of alpha-linolenic acid. *Nutrition & metabolism*, 12(1), 1.

#### **Appendix 1.** Approval from the Regional Committee of Medical Ethics.



#### UNIVERSITETET I OSLO DET MÖDISINSKE PARULTET

Forsteaniant ensis Stine Marie Ulven Hapskolen i Akershus Posibulus 423 2001 Lillestrøm

Deres ref.:

Regional homité for mediantsk og helsefæglig forskningserikk Sor-Øst C (RSK Sor-Øst C) Postboks (130 Blindern NO 0318 D35

Date: 05.12.08 Viir ref.: S-08764e 2008/20195 (oppgis ved hoevendelse)

Telefon: 22 34 43 67 Veletaks: 22 85 05 90 B-post: I.e.svanes(@mediain.gto.ne Nettadresso: www.etckkomune

#### Helseeffekter av marine omega-3 fettsyrer fra fiskcolje med ulik kvalitet. - Forskningsbiobank nr 2592

Kontiteen behandlet soknaden 20.11.2008. Prosjektet er vurdert etter lov om behandling av etikk og redelighet i forskning av 30. juni 2006, jfr. Kunnskapsdepartementets forskrift av 8. juni 2007 og retningslinjer av 27. juni 2007 før de regionale komsteer for medisinsk og belsefaglig forskningsetikk.

Søknuden gjelder en randomisert kontrollert koststudie med parallell design. Hensikten med studien er å belyse hvilken betydning kvaliteten på fiskeolje rik på EPA og DHA har for helse, bl.a. ved a måle markører for inflammasjon, antiakridantstatus og oksidativt , stress, genekspresjansprofil og modulering av lipider. Markørere kan være til hjælp for å identifisere de malekylære mekanismer bak de helsegunstige effektene av omogu-3. I studion vil det hli undersøkt hvorvidt fiskenljs, som er okvidert til et nivå med hvo man finner i kosttilskudd/matværer på det norske markedet, påvirter markorer for betve på nman måte enn den samme fiskeoljen av god hvalites.

Komiteen hat ingen innvendinger mot at prosjektet gjennomfores, men het om at følgende bemerkninger til informasjonsskjema til deltakere etterkommes: Det opplyses i søknad om biobank at analyseresultatene vil bli oppbevart avidentifisert til 2022. Denne informasjonen fremkommer ikke i informasjopsskrivet under delkapittel Hva skjør med provene og informæjonen om deg. Det bes om at informasjonen tikluderes i dette dellapittelet.

Det opplyses heller teko hvorvick informasjonen som samles inn har kommersielt utnyttelsospotensial i informasjonsskrivet. Det bes derfor om at det redogjøres for dette i informasjonsskrivet under samme delkapittel,

#### Vedtak

Komiteen godkjenner prosjektet under forutsotning av at de merkhadene til informasionaskrivet som er unført bliv innarbeidet for prosiektet settes i gang. Revidert informasjonsskriv besioversendt til orientering,

Solmad om opprettelse av forskningsbiobuuk, informasjonsskriv samt komiteens vedtak vil bli oversendt til Helsedirektoratet for endelig behandling.

Kontileens avgjørelse var erstemmig.

ŝ

69